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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE 

STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher 

investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective 

investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make 

the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other 

characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited to professional and other sophisticated 

investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM 

may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock 

Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this 

report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever 

for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Pak Wing Group (Holdings) Limited (the “Company” and 

together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars 

given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the 

purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, 

confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and 

complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of 

which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director”) of Pak Wing Group (Holdings) Limited (the 

“Company”), I am delighted to present the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the 

“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2017 (the “Year”).

REVIEW

The Group achieved a key milestone in its history that the shares of the Company were successfully listed on GEM 

on 10 August 2015 (the “Listing”). The successful Listing on GEM greatly has greatly enhanced the Group’s profile 

in the industry and also provided a readily accessible capital platform for the Group to tender the projects with 

larger contract sum in the future. During the Year, the Group tendered two projects with a total contract sum of 

approximately HK$156.6 million which are expected to be completed in year 2018.

For the Year, the Group recorded an increase in turnover of approximately HK$30.0 million or 28.0% to HK$137.3 

million compared with the year ended 31 March 2016. The increase revenue was mainly due to the contribution 

from three major projects which contributed approximately HK$66.8 million.

PROSPECT

However, the lengthening of the funding approval process in the Legislative Council for the planned public works 

by persistent filibustering in 2015 deteriorates the construction industry in Hong Kong, which has resulted in fewer 

projects in the pipeline for the construction industry as a whole and also increased the competition from other 

contractors seeking to tender projects at low price, which in turn affect the Group’s profit margin. The deterioration 

in economic environment and the increasing labour costs have also posed plenty of challenges to the Group and is 

expected to continue in 2017.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, I wish to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to our shareholders, customer, 

business partners and supplier for their continue support, and to our management and staff members for their 

commitment and contribution throughout the years.

Pak Wing Group (Holdings) Limited

Zhang Weijie

Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 23 June 2017
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

The Group is principally engaged as a foundation subcontractor in Hong Kong. The projects involved LS work 

(as defined in the prospectus dated 28 July 2015 (the “Prospectus”)), mini piling, H-piling and other works. Its 

customers principally comprise main contractors and subcontractors. The Group is normally required to follow the 

pre-determined schedule of rates according to the specifications of types of works to be done, with the necessary 

construction materials and labour to be used.

The successful listing on GEM has greatly enhanced the Group’s profile in the industry and also provided a readily 

accessible capital platform for the Group to tender the projects with larger contract sum in the future. During the 

Year, the Group tendered two projects with a total contract sum of approximately HK$156.6 million which are 

expected to be completed in year 2018.

However, the lengthening of the funding approval process in the Legislative Council for the planned public works 

by persistent filibustering in 2015 deteriorates the construction industry in Hong Kong, which has resulted in fewer 

projects in the pipeline for the construction industry as a whole and also increased the competition from other 

contractors seeking to tender projects at low price, which in turn affect the Group’s profit margin. The deterioration 

in economic environment and the increasing labour costs have also posed plenty of challenges to the Group and is 

expected to continue in 2017.

In view of the significant decrease in the gross profit margin of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2017, while 

the Group will continue its existing principal business, it will conduct a review of the business activities and assets 

of the Group for the purpose of formulating business plans and strategies for the future business development of 

the Group. The Group may explore other business opportunities and consider whether any asset disposal, asset 

acquisitions, business rationalisation, business divestment, fund raising, restructuring of the existing business and/

or business diversification will be appropriate in order to enhance the long-term growth potential of the Group.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

REVENUE

The Group’s revenue for the Year was approximately HK$137.3 million, representing an increase of approximately 

HK$30.0 million or 28.0% as compared to the revenue for the year ended 31 March 2016. The increase was mainly 

due to the contribution from three major projects which contributed approximately HK$66.8 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

GROSS (LOSS)/PROFIT AND GROSS (LOSS)/PROFIT MARGIN

For the Year, the Group recorded a gross loss of approximately HK$13.5 million (2016: gross profit approximately 

HK$1.0 million) and the gross loss margin was approximately 9.8% (2016: gross profit margin 0.9%). The declined 

gross profit margin was a result of an increase in sub-contracting charges and machinery rental expenses incurred 

in order to meet additional requirements of certain foundation projects, and the increasing competition from other 

contractors seeking to tender projects at low price.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The administrative expenses decreased by approximately HK$7.2 million or 28.5% from approximately HK$25.3 

million for the year ended 31 March 2016 to approximately HK$18.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2017. The 

decrease was mainly due to the one-off legal and professional expenses incurred in the year ended 31 March 2016 

in connection with the Listing.

FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs increased by approximately HK0.2 million or 28.6% from approximately HK$0.8 million for the year 

ended 31 March 2016 to approximately HK$1.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2017. The increase was mainly 

due to an increase in finance leases and interest on loans from directors.

LOSS AND TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE 

COMPANY

Loss and total comprehensive income for the Year was approximately HK$28.9 million (2016: HK$22.2 million). 

Such decrease was mainly due to the decrease in gross profit for the year ended 31 March 2017.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group’s shares were successfully listed on GEM on 10 August 2015. There has been no change in the capital 

structure of the Group since the date of Listing and up to the date of this report.

 2017 2016

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Current assets 50,032 49,876

Current liabilities 42,296 26,451

Current ratio 1.18 1.89

The current ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2017 was approximately 1.18 times as compared to that of 

approximately 1.89 as at 31 March 2016.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had total cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK$19.2 million (2016: 

approximately HK$20.0 million).

As at 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016, the Group had loans from directors, bank borrowings and finance leases 

in total of approximately HK$23.3 million and HK$16.6 million respectively. The scheduled repayment date of the 

Group were as follows:

 2017 2016

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 year 6,301 8,370

Between 1 and 2 years 5,656 4,157

Between 2 and 5 years 11,375 4,113

 23,332 16,640

GEARING RATIO

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated 

as the total of obligation under finance leases, amount due to directors, loans from directors and bank borrowings 

and less cash and cash equivalents. Capital represents equity of the Group.

 2017 2016

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total debt 24,588 16,640

Less: cash and cash equivalents (19,177) (19,961)

Net debt 5,411 (3,321)

Equity attributable to the owners of the Company 24,174 52,120

Gearing ratio 22.4% N/A

N/A as the gearing ratio is negative.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the Year (2016: nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2017, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had no assets pledged for bank borrowings or for other purpose.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group’s capital commitments outstanding as at 31 March 2017, not provided for in the financial statement are 

as follows:

 2017 2016

 HK$’000 HK’000

Contracted but not provided for: Property, plant and equipment – 1,000

As at 31 March 2017, the Group did not have other significant commitments.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED 

COMPANIES

During the Year, the Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries and affiliated 

companies.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD BY THE GROUP

During the Year, there was no significant investment held by the Group.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group does not have any concrete plan for material investments or capital assets as at 31 March 2017.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

As most of the Group’s business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally denominated in Hong Kong 

dollars, the Group’s exposure to exchange rate risk is limited.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group adopts a conservative approach towards its treasury policies. The Group’s credit risk is primarily 

attributable to trade and retention receivables and deposits with banks. The credit risk of the Group’s trade and 

retention receivables is concentrated since approximately 84.8% of which was derived from five major customers 

as at 31 March 2017 (2016: approximately 86.9%). As the customers of the Group are reputable corporations, the 

credit risk is considered to be low. The Group’s major bank balances are deposited with banks with good reputation 

and hence the management does not expect any losses from non-performance by these banks. In relation to 

the management of liquidity risk, the Group’s policy is to regularly monitor the liquidity requirements in order to 

maintain sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major banks to meet the liquidity 

requirements in short and long term.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2017, the Group employed a total of 63 staff. The total employee remuneration, including 

remuneration of the Directors, for the Year amounted to approximately HK$33.7 million.

The Group entered into separate labour contracts with each of our employees in accordance with the applicable 

labour laws in Hong Kong. The Group provides its staff with various benefits including discretionary bonus, 

contributory provident fund and medical insurance. The Group also provides and sponsors various types of training 

to employees and offer options that may be granted to employees under the share option scheme.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM PLACING

On 19 September 2016, the Group has resolved to change the proposed use of the net proceeds from the placing 

to determine the most efficient and effective method to deploy the Group’s resources. The details of the revised 

allocation of the net proceeds based on the announcement of the Company dated 19 September 2016 and 

utilisation of the net proceeds as at 31 March 2017 are set out as follows:

 Revised allocation of net

 proceeds as stated in the Actual use of

 announcement of the Company   net proceeds up to

 dated 19 September 2016  31 March 2017

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Acquiring machinery 14,400 10,226

Strengtheing our manpower 4,400 3,169

General working capital 5,500 5,500

 24,300 18,895
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s key risk exposures are summarised as follows:

(i) The Group’s past revenue and profit margin may not be indicative of the Group’s future revenue and profit 

margin.

(ii) The Group determined the project price based on estimated time and costs involved in a project, which may 

deviate from actual time and cost incurred. Inaccurate estimation may adversely affect our financial results.

(iii) The Group’s business operations depend on the expertise and continuing performance of the key 

management personnel and there is no assurance that the Group can hire and retain them.

(iv) Failure to invest in suitable machinery may adversely affect the Group’s market competitiveness.

(v) Acquiring machinery may result in an increase in depreciation expenses, machine operator costs, repair and 

maintenance costs and cash flow used in investing activities and may adversely affect the Group’s operating 

results and financial position.

(vi) As the Group from time to time engages subcontractors, the Group may bear responsibilities for any 

non-performance, delayed performance, sub-standard performance or non-compliance of the Group’s 

subcontractors.

(vii) The Group is exposed to possible environmental liability.

For other risks and uncertainties facing by the Group, please refer to the section headed “Risks Factors” in the 

Prospectus.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group’s operations at work sites are subject to certain environmental requirements pursuant to the laws in 

Hong Kong, including primarily those in relation to air pollution control, noise control, waste disposal and waste 

water disposal.

Area Measures

Air pollution control (i) Dust suppression by use of water

(ii) Installation of dust screens as required

(iii) Use of low-dust techniques and equipment as required

Noise control (i) Installation of acoustic barriers as required

(ii) Inspection and maintenance of all equipment before use for 

compliance of permitted noise level

(iii) Works to be undertaken in accordance with the permitted work hours 

as specified by our customers

Waste disposal (i) Waste to be segregated into general wastes and construction wastes 

before transporting to landfills

Waste water disposal (i) Use of sedimentation tanks to reduce the suspended solids in the

waste water to be discharged

(ii) After the sedimentation process to the waste water, pumping into the 

filtration plant before discharging into approved discharge points

Our Directors consider that our measures and work procedures adopted are appropriate and adequate. During the 

Year, the Group has not in violation of applicable environmental laws and regulations which would have a material 

adverse impact on our business, financial condition or results of operations of the Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, the Group has 

complied in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business 

and operation of the Company and its subsidiaries during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS, SUBCONTRACTORS AND 

EMPLOYEES

Customers

The Group’s customers are principally main contractors and subcontractors of construction projects in the private 

and public sectors. Set out below is an analysis of the Group’s revenues generated from projects in private and 

public sectors during the years:

 Year ended 31 March

 2017 2016

 Revenue % of total Revenue % of total

 HK$’000 revenue HK$’000 revenue

Private sector 93,364 68.0% 76,320 71.1%

Public sector 43,946 32.0% 30,986 28.9%

 137,310 100% 107,306 100%

During the Year, the Group generated revenue from a total of 13 customers, among which, our five largest 

customers accounted for approximately 87.8% (2016: 85.2%) for the Year of our total revenue, and our largest 

customer accounted for approximately 37.7% (2016: 40.0%) of our total revenue for the Year. The Group generated 

approximately 43.8% of our revenue from 5 first-time customers for the Year, and for the year ended 31 March 

2016, the Group generated approximately 24.0% of our revenue from 6 first-time customers. The Group has had 

good business relationship with most of the top customers which the Directors believe implying that the Group is 

the one of the selected subcontractors on such customers’ approved lists of subcontractors and the Group being 

invited to tender or quote from time to time.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or any of their respective close associates, or any 

shareholder had any interest in the Group’s five largest customers.

Suppliers

The Group’s suppliers primarily supply construction materials (such as cement, machinery spare parts and 

loose tools, diesel fuel and/or steel pile and casing) and/or services which primarily include machinery rental and 

machinery repair and maintenance. The Group generally orders relevant construction materials and services on a 

project-by-project basis, and do not enter into any long-term supply agreements with our suppliers. Our largest and 

five largest suppliers accounted for not exceeding 30% to of our total costs of services for the year ended 31 March 

2017 and 2016.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or any of their respective close associates, or any 

shareholder had any interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers.



14 Pak Wing Group (Holdings) Limited  Annual Report 2017

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

Subcontractors

During the Year, the Group subcontracted a portion of the works which primarily consisted of drilling, grouting and 

geotechnical works to other parties with an aim to utilise the Group’s own manpower and machinery in a more 

cost efficient manner. The Group’s subcontracting fees represented approximately 44.5% and 14.9% of our total 

costs of services for the year ended 31 March 2017 and 2016 respectively. Our largest subcontractors accounted 

for approximately 24.3% of our total costs of services for the Year (2016: 3.6%). Our five largest subcontractors 

accounted for approximately 40.2% of our total costs of services for the Year (2016: 12.0%).

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or any of their respective close associates, or any 

shareholder had any interest in the Group’s five largest subcontractors.

The Group selected subcontractors on a project-by-project basis, based on the Group’s assessment of their 

(i) service quality; (ii) timeliness on delivery; (iii) price; and (iv) whether they have a quality assurance system that 

meets the Group’s works requirements. The Group regularly reviews and updates the internal approved list of 

subcontractors according to the Group’s evaluation.

Employees

The Group recognises employees as valuable assets of the Group and during the Year, the Group endeavored to 

attract and retain appropriate and suitable personnel to serve the Group. The Group assesses the available human 

resources on a continual basis and will determine whether additional personnel are required to cope with the 

business development of the Group.

The Directors consider that the Group has maintained good relationship with its employees. The Group does not 

experience any labour disputes nor does the Group experience any difficulties in the recruitment and retaining of 

experienced or skilled staff members which would have hand a material impact on the Group business, financial 

condition or results of operations. The Group has not set up any trade union for its employees.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group is principally engaged in the foundation business as a foundation subcontractor in Hong Kong. The 

projects involved LS work, mini piling, H-piling and other works. The target customers principally comprise main 

contractors and subcontractors.

The Group has strived to be an enterprise fulfilling social responsibilities. Over the years, the Group has delivered 

positive messages to key stakeholders and has taken care of their interests, such as creating greater value for 

shareholders, providing high quality products and services to customers, and providing employees with appropriate 

and competitive benefits. These enable the Group to become an open, transparent and fair enterprise with social 

responsibility, and therefore increasing the public understanding of the Group.

During the year, the Company first releases the Group’s Environment, Social and Governance Report. This report, 

which is included in the 2017 annual report, has been published in accordance with the Environmental, Social and 

Governance Reporting Guide of the GEM Listing Rules.

The details of the Group’s environmental, social and governance principles are set out below.

The indexes of the environmental, social and governance reporting guide are as follow:

Aspect A – Environmental Protection

Aspect B1 – Quality of Working Environment

Aspect B2 – Health and Safety

Aspect B3 – Development and Training

Aspect B4 – Labour Standards

Aspect B5 – Supply Chain Management

Aspect B6 – Product Responsibility

Aspect B7 – Anti-corruption

Aspect B8 – Community Investment
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

ASPECT A – ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

1. Emission

Our Group engaged in the construction industry which may generate some hazardous waste due to the 

business nature, the Group takes all reasonable step to closely monitor and manage the environmental effect 

of the operations. The Group target to minimize the impact on the environment and always seeks less harmful 

ways to the environment in the operations. The Group has adopted the emission control measures, including 

but not limited to: i) retrofit construction plant with particulate reduction device to reduce dark smoke emission; 

and ii) use ultra low sulphur diesel for all diesel-powered plants and equipment. During the reporting period, 

the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations in respect 

of emissions and disposal of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

2. Use of resources

The Group has been very active on being environmentally friendly. The Group is very supportive on reducing 

the consumption of fuel, electricity and enhancing the efficiency in several ways namely: i) employees are 

encouraged by the Group to turn off the electronic equipment when it is not being used and switch the lights 

off before leaving the office; ii) the Group advocates the temperature at the office to be remained at 25.5 

Celsius; iii) double-sided printing is also being encouraged by the Group and; iv) the Group arranges the 

surplus materials on the construction site to be re-used in other construction sites instead of dumping.

3.  The environmental and natural resources

The Group has developed the Environmental Management System which has been certified to comply with 

ISO 14001. The Group set up the Environmental Information Board in the office on order to spread the 

practical tips and information about the environmental friendly action to the management and employees to 

minimize the impact of the business on the environment.

ASPECT B1: QUALITY OF WORKING ENVIRONMENT

As an enterprise with social responsibility, we are not only responsible to our consumers, but also responsible to 

our employees. When pursuing economic goals, we also bear social and environmental responsibilities in order to 

achieve sustainable development. The Group places considerable value on staff management and has developed 

its human resources management procedures, striving to create a favourable working environment for employees 

and reduce labour and employment risks of the Company.

The Group is committed to labour legislation, providing employees with appropriate holidays and paid leave 

pursuant to various local labour legislations stipulated by the those national and local governments. The specific day 

of leave varies with reference to years of experience.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

Every year, the Board of the Group reviews and discusses the improvement measures and implementation of 

human resources management procedures. The remuneration committee is established for making appropriate 

annual update on remuneration policy.

In 2017, the Group had 63 staff and by staff gender, age group classified as below:

7%

52%

31%

10%

TOTAL WORKFORCE 

BY AGE GROUP

below 30 years old

30 -45 years old

46 -60 years old

Over 60 years old

Age group Turnover rate for 

the year

Below 30 years old 11%

31-45 years old 28%

46-60 years old 33%

Over 60 years old 5%

90%

10%

TOTAL WORKFORCE 

BY GENDER

Male

Female

Gender Turnover rate for 

the year

Male 75%

Female 3%
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Index

Subject areas, aspects, general

disclosures and KPIs Section/Statement

General disclosure The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with 

relevant standards, rules and regulations on compensation 

and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, 

rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity and other benefits 

and welfare during the reporting period.

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, 

employment type, age group and 

geographical region

Aspect B1: Quality of Working Environment

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, 

employment type, age group and 

geographical region

Aspect B1: Quality of Working Environment

ASPECT B2: HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group attaches importance to the health and safety of its employees. Each subsidiary has established 

occupational safety and health guidelines to create a safe working environment for employees and protect them 

from occupational hazards.

The Group reviews the health and safety management system for its employees every year, and displays warnings 

on facilities, machines which are dangerous or prone to accidents. In addition, the Group actively strengthens the 

occupational safety awareness of employees to reduce accident.

In 2016/2017, the Group did not have any material accidents regarding safety production, and the condition of 

safety production is stable.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Index

Subject areas, aspects, genera

disclosures and KPIs Section/Statement

General disclosure The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with 

relevant standards, rules and regulations on providing a safe 

working environment and protecting its employees from 

occupational hazards during the reporting period.

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related 

fatalities

There was no work related fatalities during reporting period.

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury During the reporting period, the Group’s overall lost day rate 

due to work injury was 4.34%.

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and 

safety measures adopted, how they 

are implemented and monitored

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

ASPECT B3: DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group places considerable value on the career development of employees and has formulated a series of 

systems to provide institutional protection for the career development of employees together with enterprise 

development. Employee development has two aspects in accordance with their abilities, one is the promotion to 

management position, and the other is the enhancement of professional and technical position.

The Group mainly provides on-job training for its new entry-level employees. New employees are led by experienced 

staffs, giving new employees proper guidance on works and enhance their job knowledge and skills. They also 

promptly help new employees adapt to the Company’s operation and culture.

Employee category % trained

Average training

hours completed

per employee

Front staff 100% 52 hours

Senior officer and back office staff 20% 27 hours
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HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Index

Subject areas, aspects, genera

disclosures and KPIs Section/Statement

General disclosure Aspect B3: Development and Training

KPI B3.1 Percentage of employees trained by 

employee category

Aspect B3: Development and Training

KPI B3.2 Average training hours completed per 

employee by employee category 

Aspect B3: Development and Training

ASPECT B4: LABOUR STANDARDS

The Group is committed to abiding by the laws and regulations and providing a favourable working environment, 

including the workplace with elimination of discrimination and harassment, equal opportunities and favourable 

treatment for employees. Employee benefits include employee salaries, allowances welfare and contributions to 

retirement schemes.

HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Index

Subject areas, aspects, general

disclosures and KPIs Section/Statement

General disclosure The Group is not aware of any non-compliance with relevant 

standards, rules and regulations on preventing child or 

forced labour.

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review 

employment practices to avoid child 

and forced labour

The Group regularly reviews its employment practice to 

ensure that are in full compliance with the Employment 

Ordinance and other regulations related to child labour and 

forced labour.

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate 

such practices when discovered

No such incidents were reported during the reporting period.
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ASPECT B5: SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group is committed to reducing the vulnerability of each link to achieve sustainable development and promote 

environmental, occupational health and safety performance. The company implements a set of environmental, 

occupational health and safety management systems in accordance with ISO 14001 and OHSAS 18001 standards 

and invites business partners to cooperate with environmental and occupational health and safety.

In addition to creating value directly for investors and shareholders, the Group creates a value chain consisting 

of subcontractors and suppliers, and the indirect economic performance and environmental, labour, and security 

implications of it. The Group continues to monitor their quality, safety, environmental and labour performance in 

order to maintain the supply chain’s cleanliness and tender fairness as a basic requirement.

HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Index

Subject areas, aspects, general

disclosures and KPIs Section/Statement

General disclosure Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical 

region

All the supplier are from Hong Kong

KPI B5.2 Description of practices related 

to engaging suppliers, number of 

suppliers where the practices are 

being implemented, how they are 

implemented and monitored

All the supplier are implemented and monitored the 

practices
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ASPECT B6: PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

The Group is committed to providing quality services to customers, and has formulated stringent policies and 

procedures to clients. The mission of the Group is to provide customers with safe, high-quality service, so team 

members often check and ask the relevant material suppliers to provide product quality certification. Promote 

quality policy and objectives through commodity inspection, product safety and quality standard certification.

During the reporting period, the Group did not have product recall due to safety and health reasons.

HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Index

Subject areas, aspects, general

disclosures and KPIs Section/Statement

General disclosure The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance 

with relevant standards, rules and regulations on health and 

safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters related to 

products and services provided during the reporting period.

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or 

shipped subject to recalls for safety 

and health reasons

There is no products sold or shipped subject to recalls for 

safety and health reasons.

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service 

related complaints received and how 

they are dealt with

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance 

with relevant standards, rules and regulations on health and 

safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters related to 

products and services provided during the reporting period.

KPI B6.3 Practices related to observing and 

protecting intellectual property rights

The Group regularly reviews its internal policies and systems 

to ensure that intellectual property rights are observed and 

protected.

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance 

process and recall procedures

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data 

protection and privacy policies, how 

they are implemented and monitored

The Group regularly reviews its internal policies and systems 

to ensure that consumer data privacy is protected and that 

existing infrastructures remain robust.
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ASPECT B7: ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group is a listed company with social responsibility. The Group strives to maintain a high level of ethical 

corporate culture. The Group has formulated sound risk management code and internal control code to ensure that 

every staff complies with the rules of the Group in daily operation, so as to prevent violation of law.

In the code, the Group requires every staff to comply with the staff code, and grants appropriate authority in 

every position to prevent employees from abuse of power, and suspected conflict of interest. As the business of 

the Group involves customer’s personal data, the Group has also established the code of confidentiality and the 

relevant guidelines to employees to reduce the risk of information leakage.

During the reporting period, the Group did not have any litigation involving the allegation of corruption of the Group 

or its employees. The Group provides clear guidance for its employees and business partners regarding misconduct 

reporting and investigation regulations, ensuring that its employees can inform their matters of concern through 

different channels in an absolutely confidential manner. The Group ensures that all reported matters of true concern 

will be investigated and handed as required.

HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Index

Subject areas, aspects, general

disclosures and KPIs Section/Statement

General disclosure Sound organisational structures and policies are in place 

to uphold a high standard of corporate governance and 

maintain an ethical corporate culture. During the reporting 

period, the Group is not aware of any non-compliance 

with the applicable laws and regulations relating to bribery, 

extortion, fraud and money laundering.

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases 

regarding corrupt practices brought 

against the Group and its employees 

during the reporting period

During the reporting period, there was no concluded legal 

case regarding corrupt practices brought against the Group 

or its employees.

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures 

and whistle-blowing procedures, how 

they are implemented and monitored

The Protocol on Malpractice Reporting and Investigation 

provides clear guidelines to employees and business 

partners on ways to raise matters in a strictly confidential 

manner. The Group ensures that all matters of genuine 

concern are investigated and appropriate actions are taken 

where necessary.
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ASPECT B8: COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

In addition to reducing the impact of the project on the community, the Group’s office operations are also managed 

and improved from electricity, paper usage and overall environmental awareness. “Energy saving and emission 

reduction” program within the Group. The current green office measures include: office/conference room in the case 

of no use to turn off all the power, some offices have been using LED or T5 light pipe, the company had the garbage 

recycling collection, double-sided printing to reduce the paper consumption, to encourage colleagues to print when 

needed.

HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Index

Subject areas, aspects, general

disclosures and KPIs Section/Statement

General disclosure Aspect B8: Community Investment

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution Aspect B8: Community Investment

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus 

area

Aspect B8: Community Investment
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. ZHANG Weijie (張偉傑), aged 27, is the Chairman of the Board, an executive Director and a controlling 

shareholder of our group. He obtained a Master’s Degree in human resource management from Rutgers, The State 

University of New Jersey in 2014. He joined the Group in April 2017 and before he joined the Group, he has more 

than three years of experience in financial and investment management industries. He was the deputy general 

manager of 浙江鑫厚投資管理有限公司 from 2014 to 2015 responsible for the management of the product design 

team and the sales team. Since 2015, Mr. Zhang has been the sole beneficial owner and the legal representative 

of 天津鼎杰資產管理有限公司 (in English, for identification purpose only, Tianjin Ding Jie Asset Management 

Company Limited), which is principally engaged in investment management business with investment in various 

industries including asset management, insurance agency and corporate consultancy.

Mr. WONG Chin To (黃展韜), aged 38, an executive Director of our Group. Since July 2014, Mr. Wong had been 

a director of the Company and on 10 March 2015, he was redesignated as an executive Director and appointed 

the Chairman of the Board. As a dedicated leader since the commencement of our Group’s operations and a 

key member of our executive management, Mr. Wong is responsible for our Group’s overall strategic business 

development and planning. Mr. Wong has over 19 years of experience in the foundation industry, during which he 

gathered extensive knowledge of the industry and established close relationships with customers, supplier and 

subcontractors alike. Under Mr. Wong’s strategic leadership, the Group has seen steady expansion in our business 

operations and client base, and has established a sound reputation within the local foundation industry.

Prior to founding the Group, Mr. Wong was employed by Wan Kei Geotechnical Engineering Company Limited 

from October 1997 to August 2011, responsible for overseeing and managing a broad range of piling projects and 

other foundation works and his last position was site agent. Mr. Wong is a holder of the Certificate in Construction 

Supervision (Civil Engineering) awarded by the Construction Industry Training Authority in October 2007.

On 19 May 2017, Mr. Wong has resigned as the Chairman of the Board.

Mr. LUI Man Wah (呂文華), aged 34, was appointed as an executive Director on 1 September 2016. He graduated 

with bachelor’s degree in Business Studies from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, and obtained a master’s 

degree in Commerce from The Macquarie University. Mr. Lui has approximately 7 years of experience in investment 

management. Mr. Lui is currently an executive director of Sun International Resources Ltd, a company listed on the 

GEM (stock code: 8029). From October 2012 to July 2013, he worked at JF Household Furnishings Ltd, a company 

listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 776) as an executive director. From February 2012 to July 2012, he 

worked at Sun Century Group Ltd, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1383) as an independent 

non-executive director. From October 2010 to October 2012, he worked at SBI E2-Capital Financial Services Ltd as 

a vice president in equities department. From December 2009 to October 2010, he worked at Cinda International 

Ltd as a sales manager and from December 2008 to June 2009, he worked at Polaris Securities (HK) Ltd as a vice 

president.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WONG Chi Shing (黃智成), aged 38, is an independent non-executive Director of the Company. He 

was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 29 June 2015. Mr. Wong is serving on the Audit 

Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. Mr. Wong is responsible for providing 

independent judgment on the issues of strategy, performance, resources and standard of conduct of the Company.

Mr. Wong Chi Shing has over 13 years of experience in accounting, financing and business advisory services. From 

2003-2005, he worked at Lita Limited as management accountant. From 2005 to 2007, he worked at Hong Kong 

Express Airways Limited as an accountant. From 2007-2011, he worked at China Sonangol Resources Enterprise 

Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1229) as an assistant finance manager. From 

2011 to 2013, Mr. Wong worked at China Fertilizer Limited as accounting manager. In 2013, Mr. Wong worked at 

financial controller and company secretary at China Railsmedia Corporation Limited, a company listed on Stock 

Exchange (stock code: 745). Mr. Wong is currently a financial controller of Heng Xin China Holdings Limited, a 

company listed on Stock Exchange (stock code: 8046).

Mr. Wong Chi Shing obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting and finance from the University of Hong Kong in 

November 2001. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (admitted in July 2013) 

and a member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (admitted in December 2006).

Mr. LAU Yik Lok (劉亦樂), aged 54, is an independent non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Lau was 

appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 20 January 2017. Mr. Lau is a member of the Audit 

Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company.

He has been a managing director of Excellent Network Limited since year 2015 which provides professional 

advisory in different project planning to several Hong Kong listed companies and state owned enterprises in China. 

From year 2003 to 2009, he worked as a group consultant in JB Group to cope with project investments and 

financial planning of the JB Group. From year 1983 to 2003, he worked as an account manager in various major 

banks in Hong Kong, such as Standard Chartered Bank, DBS Bank (HK) Ltd and Asia Commercial Bank.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The executive Directors are also the members of senior management of the Group.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. LI On Lok, joined the Group as the financial controller on 8 October 2015 and was appointed as the company 

secretary on 1 April 2016. She is primarily responsible for handling and overseeing financial reporting, corporate 

finance, investor relations, financial management and company secretaries of the Group. Ms. Li was admitted as a 

member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in October 2015 and also was admitted as a fellow 

of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in September 2008.

Ms. Li has over 11 years’ experience in auditing, accounting and financial management. She commenced her career 

in auditing from 2004 to 2007. From 2007-2015, she worked at Poly Property Group Co., Limited, a company listed 

on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 119) as accountant.



28 Pak Wing Group (Holdings) Limited  Annual Report 2017

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

We are committed to achieving and maintaining high standards of corporate governance, as our Board believes 

that good and effective corporate governance practices are key to obtaining and maintaining the trust of the 

shareholders of the Company and other stakeholders, and are essential for encouraging accountability and 

transparency so as to sustain the success of the Group and to create long-term value for the shareholders of the 

Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Company has applied the principles and code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate 

Governance Report (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules as its corporate governance 

practices. As at the date of this report, to the best knowledge of the Board, the Company had complied with the 

code provisions in the Code, except for the deviation from Rules 5.05(1) and 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules and 

code provision A.2.1 of the Code which are explained in the sections headed “Board of Directors” and “Chairman 

and Chief Executive Officer” in this corporate governance report.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors in 

accordance with Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, 

all Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required standard of dealings and the code of conduct 

regarding securities transactions by directors adopted by the Company during the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Up to the date of this annual report, the Board comprised five Directors, including three executive Directors, namely 

Mr. Zhang Weijie, Mr. Wong Chin To and Mr. Lui Man Wah, and two independent non-executive Directors, namely 

Mr. Wong Chi Shing and Mr. Lau Yik Lok.

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the Board which assumes the responsibility for 

leadership and control of the Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company 

by directing and supervising its affairs. All the Directors should make decisions objectively in the interests of the 

Company. The Board has the full support from the executive Directors to discharge its responsibilities.
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The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Company are delegated to the executive 

Directors. The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the 

Board prior to any significant transactions entered into by the executive Director(s). The Board also assumes the 

responsibilities of maintaining high standard of corporate governance, including, among others, developing and 

reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance, reviewing and monitoring the training 

and continuous professional development of Directors, reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and 

practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, and reviewing the Company’s compliance with 

the Code and the disclosures in this annual report. All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, 

have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for 

its efficient and effective delivery of the Board functions. Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve 

on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee (as defined under the 

paragraph headed “Board Committees”).

The biographical details of the Directors and other senior management are set out in the section headed 

“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 25 to 27 of this annual report. Save as 

disclosed in the section headed “Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report, 

each of the Board members has no financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationships with each 

other.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties as set out in paragraph D.3.1 of the Code, 

which include the following:

1. to develop and review the policies and practices on corporate governance of the Group and make 

recommendations;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of the Directors and senior 

management;

3. to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory 

requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Directors 

and employees; and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in the corporate governance report of the 

Company.

Composition

The composition of the Board up to the date of this annual report is set out as follows:
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Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Weijie (Chairman) (appointed on 28 April 2017)

Mr. Wong Chin To

Mr. Tse Chun Kit  (resigned on 19 May 2017)

Ms. Chan Siu Ying (resigned on 1 September 2016)

Mr. Lui Man Wah  (appointed on 1 September 2016)

Mr. Ee Kok Wai, Thomas  (appointed on 1 September 2016 and resigned on 19 May 2017)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Chi Shing

Mr. Kuo Tung Ming (resigned on 20 January 2017)

Ms. Si Tou Man Wai (resigned on 26 September 2016)

Mr. Yan Chun Fu (appointed on 26 September 2016 and resigned on 19 May 2017)

Mr. Lau Yik Lok  (appointed on 20 January 2017, resigned on 19 May 2017 and 

  reappointed on 19 May 2017)

Following the resignation of Mr. Yan Chun Fu as an independent non-executive Director on 19 May 2017, the Board 

has only two independent non-executive Directors, the number of which falls below the minimum number required 

under Rule 5.05(1) of the GEM Listing Rules. As a result of insufficient number of independent non-executive 

Directors, the Company has also failed to comply with the minimum number of committee members requirements 

regarding its Audit Committee under Rules 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Board will make every effort to ensure 

that action is taken as soon as possible and in any event within three months to comply with Rules 5.05(1) and 5.28 

of the GEM Listing Rules. Further announcement will be made by the Company upon fulfilling such requirements.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive Director an annual confirmation of his 

independence, and the Company considers such directors to be independent in accordance with each and the 

various guidelines set out in rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

TERMS OF APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each of our executive Directors has entered into a service contract with our Company and we have issued letters of 

appointment to each of our independent non-executive Directors. The service contracts and letters of appointment 

are subject to termination in accordance with their respective terms. The service contracts may be renewed in 

accordance with our articles of association and the applicable GEM Listing Rules.

According to Article 108 of our articles of association (the “Article”), one-third of the Directors for the time being shall 

retire from office by rotation at every annual general meeting of the Company, provided that every Director shall 

retire from office by rotation and are subject to re-election at annual general meeting at least once every three years. 

According to Article 112, Directors who are appointed to fill casual vacancies shall hold office only until the next 

following general meeting after their appointment, and are subject to re-election by shareholders of the Company.
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Each of Mr. Zhang Weijie, Mr. Wong Chin To, Mr. Lui Man Wah, Mr. Wong Chi Shing and Mr. Lau Yik Lok will retire 

from office as Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on 11 August 2017 

pursuant to Articles. Mr. Zhang Weijie, Mr. Wong Chin To, Mr. Lui Man Wah, Mr. Wong Chi Shing and Mr. Lau Yik 

Lok, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

At the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, separate ordinary resolutions will be put forward to the 

shareholders of the Company in relation to the proposed election of Mr. Zhang Weijie, Mr. Wong Chin To and Mr. Lui 

Man Wah as executive Directors, Mr. Wong Chi Shing and Mr. Lau Yik Lok as independent non-executive Directors, 

all for a term commencing from the date of the annual general meeting which approves their appointments and 

ending at the conclusion of the third subsequent annual general meeting of the Company.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under code provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive officer (the “CEO”) should 

be separated and should not be performed by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the 

chairman and CEO should be clearly established and set out in writing. Mr. Zhang Weijie is the chairman of the 

Board and is responsible for major decision making, implementation of business strategies and overseeing the 

overall operation of the Group. Since 19 May 2017, the Company has no such position of the CEO and therefore 

the daily operations and management of the Group are monitored by the executive Directors. The Board is of the 

view that, notwithstanding without the presence of CEO, the balance of power and authority is ensured by the 

operations of the Board, which comprises experienced individuals who would meet from time to time to discuss 

issues affecting the operations of the Group.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to Code Provision A.6.5 of GEM Listing Rules, all Directors should participate in continuous professional 

development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the 

Board remains informed and relevant. The Company Secretary reports from time to time the latest changes and 

development of the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices and other regulatory regime to the Directors 

with written materials, on the professional knowledge and latest development of regulatory requirements related 

to director’s duties and responsibilities. Up to the date of this report, all Directors have participated in continuous 

professional development by reading in-house training handbook, relevant materials or attending training seminar 

on the topics related to corporate governance.

All Directors also understand the importance of continuous professional development and are committed to 

participating any suitable training or reading relevant materials in order to develop and refresh their knowledge and 

skills.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three board committees, namely, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination 

Committee and the Audit Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board 

committees have been established with defined written terms of reference, which are posted on the GEM’s website 

“www.hkgem.com” and the Company’s website at “www.pakwingc.com”. All the Board committees should report 

to the Board on their decisions or recommendations made.

The practices, procedures and arrangements in conducting meetings of Board committees follow in line with, so far 

as practicable, those of the board meetings set out below.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to perform their duties and, upon reasonable request, 

are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstance, at the Company’s expense.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties set out in the Code which includes, 

amongst others, developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance, training 

and continuous professional development of Directors, and reviewing the Company’s compliance with the code 

provision in the Code and disclosures in this report.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 6 July 2015. The chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr. Wong Chi Shing, 

our independent non-executive Director, and another member includes Mr. Lau Yik Lok, our independent non-

executive Director. The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are posted on the GEM website and on 

the Company’s website.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are mainly to review the financial information and reporting process, 

internal control procedures and risk management system, audit plan and relationship with external auditors and 

arrangements to enable employees of the Company to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible improprieties 

in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the Company.

The Company has complied with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules in that at least one of the members of the Audit 

Committee (which must be chaired by an independent non executive Director) is an independent non-executive 

Director who possesses appropriate professional qualifications or accounting related financial management 

expertise) except that following the resignation of Mr. Yan Chun Fu as an independent non-executive Director on 

19 May 2017, the Company has failed to comply with the minimum number of committee members requirements 

regarding its Audit committee under Rules 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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The Audit Committee has held 4 meetings during the year, the attendance of the members of the Audit Committee 

are summarised below:

 Number of attendance/

 number of meetings

Mr. Wong Chi Shing (Chairman) 4/4

Mr. Kuo Tung Ming (resigned on 20 January 2017) 2/3

Ms. Si Tou Man Wai (resigned on 26 September 2016) 2/2

Mr. Yan Chun Fu (appointed on 26 September 2016 and resigned on 19 May 2017) 2/2

Mr. Lau Yik Lok (appointed on 20 January 2017, resigned 

 on 19 May 2017 and reappointed on 19 May 2017) 1/1

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2017 have been reviewed by the Audit 

Committee. The Audit Committee is of the opinion that the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the 

year ended 31 March 2017 comply with applicable accounting standards, GEM Listing Rules and that adequate 

disclosures have been made.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 6 July 2015. The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is 

Mr. Lau Yik Lok, our independent non-executive Director, and other members include Mr. Wong Chi Shing, our 

independent non-executive Director, Mr. Wong Chin To, our executive Director. The written terms of reference of 

the Remuneration Committee are posted on the GEM website and the Company’s website.

The Remuneration Committee has been charged with the responsibility of making recommendations to the Board 

on the appropriated policy and structures for all aspects of Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration. The 

Remuneration Committee considers factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and 

responsibilities of the Directors, employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and desirability of performance-

based remuneration. The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the remuneration packages and emoluments of 

Directors and senior management and considered that they are fair and reasonable during the year.

4 meetings of the Remuneration Committee had been held during the year, the attendance of the members of the 

Remuneration Committee are summarized below:

 Number of attendance/

 number of meetings

Mr. Lau Yik Lok (Chairman) (appointed on 20 January 2017,

 resigned on 19 May 2017 and reappointed on 19 May 2017) 1/1

Mr. Wong Chin To 4/4

Mr. Wong Chi Shing 3/4

Ms. Si Tou Man Wai (resigned on 26 September 2016) 1/2

Mr. Kuo Tung Ming (resigned on 20 January 2017) 2/3

Mr. Yan Chun Fu (appointed on 26 September 2016 and resigned on 19 May 2017) 2/2
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 6 July 2015. The chairman of the Nomination Committee is Mr. 

Wong Chin To, our executive Director, and other members include Mr. Wong Chi Shing, and Mr. Lau Yik Lok, our 

independent non-executive Directors. The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are posted on 

the GEM website and on the Company’s website.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review and assess the composition of the Board and 

the independence of the independent non-executive Directors and makes recommendations to the Board on 

appointment of new directors of the Company. In recommending candidates for appointment to the Board, the 

Nomination Committee considers candidates on merit against objective criteria and with due regards to the benefits 

of diversity on the Board.

In designing the Board’s composition, board diversity has been considered from a number of perspectives, 

including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, industry experience, technical and 

professional skills and/or qualifications, knowledge, length of services and time to be devoted as a director. The 

Company will also take into account factors relating to its own business model and specific needs from time to time. 

The ultimate decision is based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

4 meetings of the Nomination Committee had been held during the year, the attendance of the members of the 

Nomination Committee are summarized below:

 Number of attendance/

 number of meetings

Mr. Wong Chin To (Chairman) 4/4

Mr. Wong Chi Shing 3/4

Mr. Kuo Tung Ming (resigned on 20 January 2017) 2/3

Mr. Lau Yik Lok (appointed on 20 January 2017,

 resigned on 19 May 2017 and reappointed on 19 May 2017) 1/1

Ms. Si Tou Man Wai (resigned on 26 September 2016) 1/2

Mr. Yan Chun Fu (appointed on 26 September 2016 and resigned on 19 May 2017) 2/2

BOARD MEETING, GENERAL MEETING AND PROCEDURES

During the year, 12 Board meetings were held. The forthcoming annual general meeting which will be held on 11 

August 2017 and the Company held the first annual general meeting on 29 July 2016 (“2016 AGM”) since the date 

of Listing.
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The attendance record of each Director at the Board meetings are set out in the table below:

 Number of attendance

Name of Directors Number of Board meetings 2016 AGM

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Weijie (appointed on 28 April 2017) N/A N/A

Mr. Wong Chin To 12/12 √

Mr. Tse Chun Kit (resigned on 19 May 2017) 12/12 √

Ms. Chan Siu Ying (resigned on 1 September 2016) 4/4 √

Mr. Lui Man Wah (appointed on 1 September 2016) 8/8 N/A

Mr. Ee Kok Wai, Thomas (appointed on 1 September 2016

 and resigned on 19 May 2017) 8/8 N/A

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Chi Shing 11/12 √

Mr. Kuo Tung Ming (resigned on 20 January 2017) 7/9 x

Ms. Si Tou Man Wai (resigned on 26 September 2016) 3/6 √

Mr. Yan Chun Fu (appointed on 26 September 2016 

 and resigned on 19 May 2017) 6/6 N/A

Mr. Lau Yik Lok (appointed on 20 January 2017, resigned 

 on 19 May 2017 and reappointed on 19 May 2017) 3/3 N/A

Remarks:

√ represents attendance  x represents absence  N/A represents not applicable

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The amount of fees charged by the external auditor generally depends on the scope and volume of the external 

auditor’s work performed. For the Year, the remuneration paid or payable to the external auditor of the Company in 

respect of the statutory audit services and non-audit services for the Group are as follows:

 Fees paid/payable 

 for the services rendered

 HK$’000

Statutory audit services 500

Non-audit services 127

The non-audit services mainly consisted of the reporting on the agreed-upon-procedures in relation to the circular.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment, maintenance and review of the Group’s internal control 

system to safeguard shareholder investments and the assets of the Group. The internal control system of the Group 

aims to facilitate effective and efficient operation which in turn minimises the risks to which the Group is exposed. 

The system can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against misstatement or losses.

The Board has conducted a review of the implemented system and procedures, covering financial, operational and 

legal compliance controls and risk management functions. The Directors consider that the Group has implemented 

effective and adequate procedures safeguarding the Group’s assets against unauthorised use or misappropriation, 

maintaining proper accounting records, execution with appropriate authority and compliance of the relevant laws 

and regulations.

The Company does not have an internal audit department. The Board has reviewed the need for an internal audit 

function and is of the view that in light of the size, nature and complexity of the business of the Group, as opposed 

to diverting resources to establish a separate internal audit department, it would be more cost effective to appoint 

external independent professionals to perform independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk 

management and internal control systems of the Group. Nevertheless, the Board will continue to review at least 

annually the need for an internal audit department.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has adopted shareholders communication policy with objective of ensuring that the shareholders and 

potential investors are provided with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable information 

about the Company.

The Company has established several channels to communicate with the shareholders as follows:

(I) corporate communications such as annual reports, quarterly reports, interim reports and circulars are issued 

printed form and are available on the GEM website “www.hkgem.com” and the Company’s website at 

“www.pakwingc.com”;

(II) periodic announcements are made through the Stock Exchange and published on the respective websites of 

the Stock Exchange and the Company;

(III) corporate information is made available on the Company’s website;

(IV) annual and special general meetings provide a forum for the shareholders to make comments and exchange 

views with the Directors and senior management; and

(V) the Hong Kong share registrar of the Company serves the shareholders in respect of share registration, 

dividend payment and related matters.
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The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and enhancing communication with the existing shareholders 

and potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from investors, stakeholders and the public. Enquires to the board 

or the Company may be sent by post to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

During the Year, there is no significant change in the Company’s memorandum and articles of association.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

As one of the measures to safeguard shareholders’ interest and rights, separate resolutions are proposed at 

shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue, including the election of individual directors, for shareholders’ 

consideration and voting. All resolutions put forward at shareholders’ meeting will be voted by poll pursuant to the 

GEM Listing Rules and the poll voting results will be posted on the GEM website and the Company’s website after 

the relevant shareholders’ meeting.

Extraordinary general meeting may be convened by the board on requisition of shareholders holding not less 

than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company or by such shareholders who made the requisition (the 

“Requisitionists”) (as the case may be) pursuant to Article 64 of the articles of association. Such requisition 

must state the object of business to be transacted at the meeting and must be signed by the Requisitionists 

and deposited at the registered office of the Company or the Company’s principal place of business in Hong 

Kong. Shareholders should follow the requirements and procedures as set out in such article for convening an 

extraordinary general meeting. Shareholders may put forward proposals with general meeting of the Company by 

sending the same to the Company at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong.

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company. 

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests in respect of their rights to the Company’s principal place of 

business in Hong Kong.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge and understand their responsibility for preparing the consolidated financial statements 

and to ensure that the consolidated financial statements of the Group are prepared in a manner which reflects the 

true and fair view of the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the Group and are in compliance 

with the relevant accounting standards and principles, applicable laws and disclosure provisions required of the 

GEM Listing Rules. The Directors are of the view that the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year 

has been prepared on this basis.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, there is no uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, therefore the Directors continue to 

adopt the going concern approach in preparing the consolidated financial statements. The Company’s external 

auditor’s responsibilities in respect of the consolidated financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s 

Report on pages 48 to 52 of this report.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements for the year 

ended 31 March 2017.

CORPORATE REORGANISATION

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 15 July 

2014.

In preparing for the listing of the Company’s shares on the GEM Board of the Stock Exchange, the Group 

underwent the Group Reorganisation (as defined under note 3(a) to the consolidated financial statement) and the 

Company became the holding company of the companies comprising the Group upon the completion of the Group 

Reorganisation on 6 July 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are 

set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the 

Group’s principal activities during the Year.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “Company Ordinance”), including a discussion of the 

principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, environment policies of the Group, compliance with laws and 

regulations by the Group, its relationship with customer, supplier, subcontractors and employees and an indication 

of likely future developments in the Group’s business, can be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis set 

out on pages 6 to 14 of this annual report. This discussion forms part of this directors’ report.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and contribution to the loss from operations by principal activities and 

geographical area of operations for the Year is set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year and the financial position of the Group at that date are set out in the 

consolidated financial statements on pages 53 to 99.

The Directors do not recommended the payment of a final dividend for the Year.
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as 

extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements, is set out on page 100 in this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the Year are set out in note 16 to 

the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial 

statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman 

Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company is incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new 

shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

The related party transaction disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements constitute de minimis 

connected transactions as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules, which were fully exempt from the 

Shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2017, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to the shareholders, calculated in 

accordance with the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman 

Islands amounted to approximately HK$12.1 million.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 6 July 2015 (the “Scheme”) pursuant to the written resolution 

of the shareholders of the Company on 6 July 2015 for the purpose of providing additional incentives eligible 

participants for their contribution to the Group and/or enabling the Group to attract and retain best available 

personnel that are valuable to the Group.

Details of the Scheme are as follows:

1. Purpose of the Scheme As incentive to eligible participants for their contribution to the 

Group and/or to enable the Group to attract and retain best 

available personnel that are valuable to the Group.

2. Eligible participants to the Scheme Any eligible employee (full-time or part-time), director, consultant or 

adviser of the Group, or any substantial shareholder of the Group, 

or any distributor, contractor, supplier, agent, customer, business 

partner or service provider of the Group.

3. Total number of shares available 

for issue under the Scheme and 

percentage to the issued share capital 

as at the date of this report

80,000,000 shares (equivalent to 10% of total issued share capital 

as at the date of this annual report).

4. Maximum entitlement of each 

participant under the Scheme

Not exceeding 1% of the issued share capital of the Company for 

the time being in any 12 month period. Any further grant of share 

option in excess of such limit must be separately approved by 

Company’s shareholders in general meeting.

5. The period within which the shares 

must be taken up under an option

A period (which may not expire later than 10 years from the date of 

offer of that option) to be determined and notified by Directors to the 

grantee thereof.

6. The minimum period for which an 

option must be held before it can be 

exercised

Unless otherwise determined by the Directors, there is no minimum 

period required under the Scheme for the holding of an option 

before it can be exercised.

7. The amount payable on application 

or acceptance of the option and the 

period within which payments or calls 

must be made

The remittance of HK$1.00 on or before the date of acceptance 

(which may not be later then seven days from the date of offer).
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8. The basis of determining the exercise 

price 

Being determined by the Directors and being not less than the price 

highest of:

a. the closing price of shares of the Company as stated in the 

Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the offer date;

b. the average closing prices of the shares of the Company as 

stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet for the 

five business days immediately proceeding the offer date; and

c. the nominal value of the share on the offer date.

9. The remaining life of the Scheme The Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10 years 

commencing on 6 July 2015 (being the date of adoption of the 

Scheme).

No share option has been granted under the Scheme since its adoption and up to the date of this report.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company (the “Board”) during the year and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Weijie (Chairman) (appointed on 28 April 2017)

Mr. Wong Chin To

Mr. Tse Chun Kit (resigned on 19 May 2017)

Ms. Chan Siu Ying (resigned on 1 September 2016)

Mr. Lui Man Wah (appointed on 1 September 2016)

Mr. Ee Kok Wai, Thomas (appointed on 1 September 2016 and resigned on 19 May 2017)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Chi Shing

Mr. Kuo Tung Ming (resigned on 20 January 2017)

Ms. Si Tou Man Wai (resigned on 26 September 2016)

Mr. Yan Chun Fu (appointed on 26 September 2016 and resigned on 19 May 2017)

Mr. Lau Yik Lok (appointed on 20 January 2017, resigned on 19 May 2017

  and reappointed on 19 May 2017)

In accordance with our articles of association, at each annual general meeting one third of the Directors for the time 

being shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least 

once every three years. Such retiring Directors may, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the annual 

general meeting. All Directors appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general 

meeting of Shareholders after their appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting and all Directors 

appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following annual 

general meeting and shall then be eligible for re-election.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of three years and 

each of these service contracts is subject to terminate by not less than three months written notice. Independent 

non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of three years subject to termination in certain circumstances as 

stipulated in appointment letter.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior management of the Group are set out on pages 

25 to 27 of the annual report.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the directors of the Company and the five highest paid individuals of the Group are set 

out in notes 9 and 12 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

Save as the related party transactions disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements, no director had 

a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which 

the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

As at 31 March 2017, the Company did not enter into or have any management and administration contracts in 

respect of the whole or any principal business of the Company.

INTERESTS OF THE COMPLIANCE ADVISOR

As at 31 March 2017, as notified by the Company’s compliance advisor, Shenwan Hongyuan Capital (H.K.) Limited 

(the “Compliance Advisor”), except for the compliance advisor agreement entered into between the Company and 

the Compliance Advisor dated on 10 March 2015, neither the company advisor nor its directors, employees or close 

associates has any interests in relation to the Company which is required to be notified to the Group pursuant to 

Rule 6A.32 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Apart from as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Disclosure of Interests” below and the share option scheme 

disclosures in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements, at no time during the Year were rights to acquire 

benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in the Company granted to any director or their respective spouse or 

children under 18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or the Company’s 

subsidiary or holding company or a subsidiary of the Company’s holding company a party to any arrangement to 

enable the directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

Interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the 

shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations

As at 31 March 2017, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company (the 

“Chief Executive”) in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any associated corporation 

(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) 

(the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of SFO, or as otherwise notified to 

the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors of listed issuer as 

referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Required Standard of Dealings”) or Rule 23.07 of the GEM 

Listing Rules are as follows:

Long position in ordinary shares of the Company:

 Capacity/Nature Number of Percentage of

Name of Director of interests capital shares held issued shares

   (Note 2)

Mr. Zhang Weijie (Note 1) Interest of a controlled corporation 600,000,000 75.0%

Notes:

1. Mr. Zhang Weijie (“Mr. Zhang”) beneficially owns the entire issued share capital of Steel Dust Limited (“Steel Dust”). Therefore, Mr. 

Zhang is deemed, or taken to be, interested in all the shares held by Steel Dust for the purpose of the SFO.

2. The percentage is calculated on the basis of 800,000,000 shares in issue as at the date of this report.

Long position in ordinary shares of associate corporation(s) of the Company:

 Name of  Capacity/Nature Number  Percentage of 

Name of Director associated corporation of Interest of shares held issued shares

Mr. Zhang Weijie Steel Dust Limited Beneficial owner 1 100%
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2017, none of the Directors or the Chief Executive or their respective  or 

any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be 

kept under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to 

the Required Standard of Dealings or Rule 23.07 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Interests and short positions of substantial shareholders of the Company in the shares and 

underlying shares of the Company

As at 31 March 2017, so far as is known to the Directors and the Chief Executive and based on the public records 

filed on the website of the Stock Exchange and records kept by the Company, the interest and short positions of 

the persons or corporations (other than the Directors and the Chief Executive) in the shares or underlying shares of 

the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO are as follows:

Long position in ordinary shares of the Company:

 Capacity/Nature Number of Percentage of

Name of shareholder of interests capital  shares held  issued shares

   (Note 1)

Steel Dust Limited Beneficial owner 600,000,000 75.0%

Note: 

1. The percentage is calculated on the basis of 800,000,000 shares in issue as at the date of this report.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2017, there was no person or corporation (other than the Directors and 

the Chief Executive) who had any interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as 

recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

COMPETING INTERESTS

The Directors, the controlling shareholders of the Company and their respective close associates do not have any 

interest in a business apart from our business which competes and is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with 

our business.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the 

Company’s securities.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS IN DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

Each of the executive Directors has undertaken, among other things, not to accept any positions/job titles or 

conduct any business transactions with any individual or company that in any way competes with the Group or 

our associated companies, whether directly or indirectly. The executive Directors have also undertaken that they 

would not hold more than 5% of the economic interests and/or participate in any business activities of the aforesaid 

companies. Each of the executive Directors confirms that he had complied with the non-competition undertakings 

as set out in their respective service contracts from the date of the service contract up to the date of this annual 

report.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to establish entitlements to attend and vote at the forthcoming AGM, the register of members of the 

Company will be closed from Tuesday, 8 August 2017 to Friday, 11 August 2017, both days inclusive, during which 

period no transfer of the shares of the Company will be registered. Shareholders are reminded to ensure that all 

completed share transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s 

branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s 

Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 7 August 2017.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM PLACING

On 19 September 2016, the Group has resolved to change the proposed use of the net proceeds from the placing 

to determine the most efficient and effective method to deploy the Group’s resources. The details of the revised 

allocation of the net proceeds based on the announcement of the Company dated 19 September 2016 and 

utilisation of the net proceeds as at 31 March 2017 are set out as follows:

 Revised allocation of

 net proceeds as stated

 in the announcement Actual use of net

 of the Company dated proceeds up to

 19 September 2016  31 March 2017

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Acquiring machinery 14,400 10,226

Strengtheing our manpower 4,400 3,169

General working capital 5,500 5,500

 24,300 18,895

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Board is not aware of any significant event requiring disclosure that has been taken place subsequent to 31 

March 2017 and up to the date of this report.
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DONATIONS

No donations had been made by the Group during the Year (2016: nil).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on 

pages 28 to 37 of this annual report.

CHANGE OF CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER AND THE OFFER

On 24 February 2017, Get Real Holdings Limited and Dor Holdings Limited (the “Sellers”) and Steel Dust Limited 

(“Steel Dust”) entered into the sale and purchase agreement (“Sale and Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to 

which the Sellers agreed to sell and Steel Dust agreed to purchase a total of 600,000,000 shares, representing 

approximately 75.0% of the entire issued share capital of the Company at that time, for a total consideration of 

HK$300,000,000 (equivalent to HK$0.50 per sale shares). Following the completion of the Sale and Purchase 

Agreement which took place on 8 March 2017, Steel Dust had become the controlling shareholder of the Company 

and was required under the Code on Takeovers and Mergers to make a mandatory unconditional cash offer to 

acquire all the issued shares (other than those already owned or agreed to be acquired by the Steel Dust Limited 

and parties acting in concert with it) at HK$0.50 per offer share (the “Offer”). The Offer was closed on 19 May 

2017. Having made all reasonable enquiries and to the best knowledge and belief of the Board, Steel Dust held 

674,520,000 shares immediately after the close of Offer on 19 May 2017. Details of the change of controlling 

shareholder and the Offer are set out in the joint announcements dated 6 March 2017 and 8 March 2017 and 19 

May 2017 and the composite document dated 28 April 2017 jointly issued by the Company and Steel Dust.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Immediately after the close of the Offers on 19 May 2017, the public float of the Shares of the Company has fallen 

to approximately 15.685%, which is below the minimum public float requirement under Rule 11.23(7) of the GEM 

Listing Rules. The Company has applied to the Stock Exchange for a temporary waiver from strict compliance with 

Rule 11.23(7) of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Waiver”) from the period commencing from 19 May 2017 to 18 July 

2017(the “Waiver Period”). On 23 May 2017, the Stock Exchange has granted the Waiver to the Company for the 

Waiver Period.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors in writing and annual 

confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company considers all 

the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2017 has been audited by BDO 

Limited. A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company to re-appoint 

BDO Limited as auditor of the Company.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Mr. Zhang Weijie

Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 23 June 2017
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF PAK WING GROUP (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Pak Wing Group (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and 

its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 53 to 99, which comprise the consolidated statement of 

financial position as at 31 March 2017, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated 

statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to 

the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position 

of the Group as at 31 March 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for 

the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong 

Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the 

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 

the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with 

the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 

responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 

of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 

separate opinion on these matters.
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Accounting for construction contracts

As described in the Significant Accounting Policies in Note 4(h) to the consolidated financial statements, the Group 

recognises revenue and costs associated with its construction contracts based on the stage of completion of 

contract activity at the end of the reporting period, when the outcome of construction contracts can be estimated 

reliably. The stage of completion of contracts is established by reference to surveys of contract work performed. 

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue for a contract, the expected loss is 

recognised as an expense immediately.

As presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the Group’s construction contract revenue 

and costs for the year ended 31 March 2017 amounted to approximately HK$137,310,000 and HK$150,790,000, 

respectively.

We identified the accounting for construction contracts as a key audit matter as it requires management to exercise 

significant judgement on the outcome and stage of completion of each construction contract and to estimate 

the profitability of each on-going construction contract during the reporting period, and the associated financial 

statement items are quantitatively significant to the consolidated financial statements as a whole.

Our response:

Our principal audit procedures in relation to accounting for construction contracts are as follows:

– Obtaining an understanding of and evaluating internal controls on recognition of contract revenue and costs;

– Discussing with the Group’s management about the progress of the construction projects;

– Checking the basis used for estimating the budgeted revenue to underlying construction contracts entered 

into with the customers and other relevant supporting documents in respect of variations in construction 

works;

– Evaluating the reasonableness of budgeted costs, including (i) for subcontracting costs contracted for, 

agreeing the budgeted costs to the underlying contracts; (ii) for estimation of costs not supported by 

contracts, checking that the costs are included in accordance with the construction contracts; and (iii) 

comparing the budgeted data with the actual data recorded, taking into account the stage of completion 

achieved;

– Assessing the reasonableness of contract revenue recognised and stage of completion by reference to 

progress certificates issued by customers and other underlying documents;

– Checking, on a sample basis, the contract costs incurred to underlying supporting documents; and

– Reviewing financial budget prepared by management for each on-going construction contract to assess 

whether expected loss on contract was properly recognised as an expense immediately.
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in 

the Company’s annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 

thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 

any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 

financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 

based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 

we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and 

fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 

Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 

preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 

to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 

concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have 

no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. The Audit Committee 

assists the directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 

opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no 

other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of 

this report.
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 

with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 

and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 

skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 

to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 

that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 

forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Group’s internal control.

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by the directors.

• conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 

on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 

may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 

material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 

in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 

events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 

the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 

activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 

for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 

opinion.
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We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 

audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 

audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 

thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in 

the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 

describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter 

or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 

because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 

benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Tang Tak Wah

Practising Certificate Number P06262

Hong Kong, 23 June 2017
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For the year ended 31 March 2017

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

 Notes 2017 2016

  HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 7 137,310 107,306

Cost of services  (150,790) (106,342)

Gross (loss)/profit  (13,480) 964

Other income 10 3,884 280

Administrative expenses  (18,048) (25,252)

Finance costs 11 (1,044) (812)

Loss before income tax 8 (28,688) (24,820)

Income tax (expense)/credit 13 (240) 2,589

Loss and total comprehensive income

 for the year attributable to the owners of the Company  (28,928) (22,231)

Loss per share

 – Basic and diluted (HK cents) 15 (3.62) (2.93)
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As at 31 March 2017

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

 Notes 2017 2016

  HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets   

Property, plant and equipment  16 33,659 36,915

Deferred tax assets  24 – 114

  33,659 37,029

Current assets 

Amounts due from customers for contract work 17 960 3

Trade and other receivables 18 29,895 26,285

Tax recoverable   – 3,627

Cash and cash equivalents 19 19,177 19,961

  50,032 49,876

Total assets   83,691 86,905

Current liabilities 

Amounts due to customers for contract work 17 – 2,350

Trade and other payables 20 34,739 15,731

Amounts due to directors 21 1,256 –

Bank borrowings, secured 22 – 2,640

Obligations under finance leases  23 6,301 5,730

  42,296 26,451

Net current assets   7,736 23,425

Total assets less current liabilities   41,395 60,454

Non-current liabilities 

Obligations under finance leases 23 7,883 8,270

Loans from directors 21 9,148 –

Deferred tax liabilities 24 190 64

  17,221 8,334

NET ASSETS  24,174 52,120

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 

 Share capital 25 8,000 8,000

 Reserves 27 16,174 44,120

TOTAL EQUITY   24,174 52,120

On behalf of the Board of Directors

 Zhang Weijie Wong Chin To

 Director Director
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For the year ended 31 March 2017

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

    Retained

    earnings/

 Share Share Merger accumulated Capital

 capital premium* reserve* losses* reserve* Total

  (Note 27(a)) (Note 27(b)) (Note 27(c)) (Note 27(d))

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 April 2015 22 – – 43,531 – 43,553

Loss and total comprehensive

 income for the year – – – (22,231) – (22,231)

Interim dividend (Note 14) – – – (8,000) – (8,000)

Arising from group reorganisation

 (Note 25(b)) (22) – 22 – – –

Issue of shares upon group reorganisation

 (Note 25(c)) 380 51,347 (51,727) – – –

Capitalisation issue of shares (Note 25(d)) 6,420 (6,420) – – – –

Issue of shares under placing (Note 25(e)) 1,200 40,800 – – – 42,000

Share issuance expenses – (3,202) – – – (3,202)

As at 31 March 2016 and 1 April 2016 8,000 82,525 (51,705) 13,300 – 52,120

Loss and total comprehensive

 income for the year – – – (28,928) – (28,928)

Capital Contribution from owners (Note 21) – – – – 982 982

As at 31 March 2017 8,000 82,525 (51,705) (15,628) 982 24,174

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of approximately HK$16,174,000 in the consolidated statement of 

financial position as at 31 March 2017 (2016: HK$44,120,000).
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For the year ended 31 March 2017

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

 Notes 2017 2016

  HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Loss before income tax expense  (28,688) (24,820)

Adjustments for:

 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 8 13,278 11,052

 Finance costs 11 1,044 812

 (Reversal of)/recognition of impairment loss on retention receivables 18 (1,076) 1,076

 (Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 8 (996) 241

Operating loss before working capital changes  (16,438) (11,639)

(Increase)/decrease in amounts due from customers

 for contract work  (957) 1,156

(Decrease)/increase in amounts due to customers

 for contract work  (2,350) 2,350

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables  (2,534) 13,253

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  19,008 (484)

Cash (used in)/generated from operations  (3,271) 4,636

Income tax refund/(paid)  3,627 (2,676)

Net cash generated from operating activities  356 1,960

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of property, plant and equipment  (5,057) (9,642)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  2,940 533

Net cash used in investing activities  (2,117) (9,109)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares 25(e) – 42,000

Interim dividends paid 14 – (8,000)

Share issuance expenses  – (3,202)

Increase in amounts due to directors  1,256 –

Proceeds from loans from directors  10,000 –

Proceeds from bank borrowings  – 3,158

Repayment of bank borrowings  (2,640) (5,655)

Repayment of obligations under finance leases  (6,726) (6,804)

Interest paid  (913) (812)

Net cash generated from financing activities  977 20,685

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (784) 13,536

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  19,961 6,425

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year  19,177 19,961
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For the year ended 31 March 2017

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. GENERAL

Pak Wing Group (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 15 July 2014, 

as an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law (2004 revision) Chapter 22 of the 

Cayman Islands. The registered office of the Company is located at the offices of Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, 

P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands and the principal place of business was changed 

from Room 2815-16, 28/F, New Tech Plaza, 34 Tai Yau Street, San Po Kong, Kowloon, Hong Kong to 25th 

Floor, Progress Commercial Building, No. 9 Irving Street, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong on 9 January 2017. 

The Company is an investment holding company and its shares were listed on GEM on 10 August 2015 (the 

“Listing”). The Group is principally engaged in the foundation business as a foundation subcontractor in Hong 

Kong.

On 8 March 2017, Get Real Holdings Limited and Dor Holdings Limited, the then substantial shareholders 

of the Company, sold an aggregate of 600,000,000 shares of the Company, representing 75% of the then 

total share capital of the Company at a cash consideration of HK$300,000,000 to Steel Dust Limited, which 

became the ultimate parent of the Company.

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs – effective on 1 April 2016

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to HKAS 16 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation

 and HKAS 38  and Amortisation

Amendments to HKAS 16 Agriculture: Bearer Plants

 and HKAS 41 

Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements

Amendments to HKFRS 10, Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception

 HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations

The adoption of these amendments has no material impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2017

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) 

(Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant to the Group’s financial statements, have been 

issued, but are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group. The Group’s current 

intention is to apply these changes on the date they become effective.

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative1

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses1

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfer of Investment Property2

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based 

  Payment Transactions2

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with HKFRS 4 

  Insurance Contracts2

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sales of Contribution of Assets between an Investor and

 and HKAS 28 (2011)  its Associate or Joint Venture4

Amendments to HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

  (Clarifications to HKFRS 15)2

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments2

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers2

HKFRS 16 Leases3

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
4 No mandatory effective date is determined but is available for early adoption

Except as describe below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the new and 

revised HKFRSs will not have a material impact on the Group’s financial performance and financial 

position.

HKFRS 9 (2014) – Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets. 

Debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to 

collect contractual cash flows (the business model test) and that have contractual terms that give rise 

to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding (the 

contractual cash flow characteristics test) are generally measured at amortised cost. Debt instruments 

that meet the contractual cash flow characteristics test are measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) if the objective of the entity’s business model is both to hold and 

collect the contractual cash flows and to sell the financial assets. Entities may make an irrevocable 

election at initial recognition to measure equity instruments that are not held for trading at FVTOCI. All 

other debt and equity instruments are measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).



Pak Wing Group (Holdings) Limited  Annual Report 2017 59

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2017

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) 

(Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 9 (2014) – Financial Instruments (Continued)

HKFRS 9 includes a new expected loss impairment model for all financial assets not measured at FVTPL 

replacing the incurred loss model in HKAS 39 and new general hedge accounting requirements to allow 

entities to better reflect their risk management activities in financial statements.

HKFRS 9 carries forward the recognition, classification and measurement requirements for financial 

liabilities from HKAS 39, except for financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, where the amount of change 

in fair value attributable to change in credit risk of the liability is recognised in other comprehensive 

income unless that would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch. In addition, HKFRS 9 retains the 

requirements in HKAS 39 for derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities.

Based on the Group’s financial instruments as at 31 March 2017, the directors of the Company 

anticipate that the application of the new expected credit loss model may result in earlier provision of 

credit losses which are not yet incurred in relation to the Group’s financial assets measured at amortised 

cost. The Group has yet to assess the full impact of HKFRS 9.

HKFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The new standard establishes a single revenue recognition framework. The core principle of the 

framework is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or 

services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be 

entitled in exchange for those goods and services. HKFRS 15 supersedes existing revenue recognition 

guidance including HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and related interpretations.

HKFRS 15 requires the application of a 5 steps approach to revenue recognition:

• Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

• Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

• Step 3: Determine the transaction price

• Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to each performance obligation

• Step 5: Recognise revenue when each performance obligation is satisfied

HKFRS 15 includes specific guidance on particular revenue related topics that may change the current 

approach taken under HKFRS. The standard also significantly enhances the qualitative and quantitative 

disclosures related to revenue.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) 

(Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Continued)

The application of HKFRS 15 may result in different conclusions about the separately identifiable 

components when identifying performance obligations, which could affect the timing of the recognition 

of revenue. Certain costs incurred in fulfilling a contract which are currently expensed may need to be 

recognised as an asset under HKFRS 15. At this stage, the Group is in the process of assessing the 

impact of HKFRS 15 on the Group’s financial statements.

HKFRS 16 – Leases

HKFRS 16, which upon the effective date will supersede HKAS 17 “Leases” and related interpretations, 

introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities 

for all leases with a term of more 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. Specifically, 

under HKFRS 16, a lessee is required to recognise a right-of-use asset representing its right to use 

the underlying leased asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments. 

Accordingly, a lessee should recognise depreciation of the right-of use asset and interest on the lease 

liability, and also classifies cash repayments of the lease liability into a principal portion and an interest 

portion and presents them in the statement of cash flows. Also, the right-of-use asset and the lease 

liability are initially measured on a present value basis. The measurement includes non-cancellable lease 

payments and also includes payments to be made in optional periods if the lessee is reasonably certain 

to exercise an option to extend the lease, or to exercise an option to terminate the lease. This accounting 

treatment is significantly different from the lessee accounting for leases that are classified as operating 

leases under the predecessor standard, HKAS 17.

In respect of the lessor accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting 

requirements in HKAS 17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases or 

finance leases, and to account for those two types of leases differently.

As set out in Note 23(b), the total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating 

leases of the Group in respect of office premises and machinery as at 31 March 2017 amounted to 

approximately HK$7,436,000. The directors of the Company do not expect the adoption of HKFRS 

16 as compared with the current accounting policy would result in a significant impact on the Group’s 

financial performance, and anticipate that certain portion of the future minimum lease payments under 

the Group’s operating leases will be required to be recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of 

financial position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities.
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3. GROUP REORGANISATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND PREPARATION

(a) Group reorganisation

Pursuant to a group reorganisation (the “Group Reorganisation”) carried out by the Group in preparation 

for the listing of shares of the Company on the GEM of the Stock Exchange, the Company became the 

holding company of the subsidiaries now comprising the Group on 6 July 2015. Details of the Group 

Reorganisation are set out in the section headed “History and Development” to the Prospectus issued 

by the Company dated 28 July 2015.

(b) Basis of presentation

The Group Reorganisation involved the combination of a number of entities engaged in the Group’s 

business that were collectively controlled by Mr. Wong Chin To and Mr. Tse Chun Kit (the “Then 

Controlling Shareholders”) before and immediately after the Group Reorganisation. The Group is 

therefore regarded as a continuing entity resulting from the Reorganisation, as there has been a 

continuation of the risks and benefits to the ultimate controlling parties that existed prior to the Group 

Reorganisation.

Accordingly, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of 

changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the year ended 31 

March 2016 have been prepared using the principles of merger accounting as if the current group 

structure had been in existence throughout that year, or since the respective dates of incorporation or 

establishment of the combining companies, or since the date when the combining companies first came 

under the control of the Then Controlling Shareholders, whichever was shorter. All significant intra-group 

transactions and balances have been eliminated on consolidation.

(c) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, 

Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to 

as the “HKFRS”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure 

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated financial 

statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing Securities on the 

GEM of the Stock Exchange.
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3. GROUP REORGANISATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND PREPARATION 

(Continued)

(d) Basis of preparation and going concern assumption

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis.

The Group incurred a loss of approximately HK$28,928,000 for the year ended 31 March 2017 and had 

accumulated losses of HK$15,628,000 as at 31 March 2017.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis as the Company’s 

directors are confident that the Group will be able to meet its financial obligations as and when they 

fall due within the twelve months from 31 March 2017, on the basis that (a) the Then Controlling 

Shareholders, who were also the Company’s directors as at 31 March 2017, have agreed in writing 

not to demand repayment of the loans due from the Group amounting to HK$10 million as at 31 March 

2017 until the Group is in a position to meets its other financial obligations; (b) the Then Controlling 

Shareholders have agreed in writing to provide continual financial support to Pak Wing Construction 

Company Limited, the principal operating subsidiary of the Company, to meet its financial obligations 

as and when they fall due; and (c) based on the cash flow projections prepared by management which 

cover a period of twelve months from 31 March 2017, the Group will be able to generate sufficient cash 

flows to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due.

(e) Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”), which is also the 

functional currency of the Company, and all values are rounded to the nearest thousands, except when 

otherwise indicated.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Business combination and basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its 

subsidiaries. Inter-company transactions and balances between group companies together with 

unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised 

losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment on the asset 

transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income from the effective dates of acquisition or up to the effective dates 

of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of 

subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those used by other members of the Group.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Business combination and basis of consolidation (Continued)

Other than business combination under common control for which merger accounting method is used, 

acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an 

acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred, liabilities 

incurred and equity interests issued by the Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired 

and liabilities assumed are principally measured at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s previously 

held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured at acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains 

or losses are recognised in profit or loss. The Group may elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, 

to measure the non-controlling interests that represent present ownership interests in the subsidiary 

either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other non-

controlling interests are measured at fair value unless another measurement basis is required by 

HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed unless they are incurred in issuing equity 

instruments in which case the costs are deducted from equity.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for 

as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest and the non-controlling interest are 

adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the 

amount by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or 

received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference 

between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained 

interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the 

subsidiary and any non-controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive 

income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for in the same manner as would be required if the 

relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests that represent present 

ownership interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus such non-

controlling interest’s share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed 

to such non-controlling interests even if this results in those non-controlling interests having a deficit 

balance.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able to exercise control. The Company controls 

an investee if all three of the following elements are present: power over the investee, exposure, or rights, 

to variable returns from the investee, and the ability to use its power to affect those variable returns. 

Control is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any of 

these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less 

impairment losses, if any. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of 

dividend received and receivable.

(c) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its purchase price and the costs directly attributable 

to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 

appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 

the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part 

is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the financial 

period in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to write off their cost net of expected residual value 

over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The useful lives, residual value and depreciation 

method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The principal 

annual rates are as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the lease term but not exceeding 5 years

Machineries 20% per annum

Furniture and equipment 20% per annum

Motor vehicles 30% per annum
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if its carrying amount is higher than the 

asset’s estimated recoverable amount.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as 

owned assets, or where shorter, the terms of the relevant leases.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is the difference between the 

net sale proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised in the profit or loss on disposal.

(d) Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks 

and rewards of ownership to lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets at their fair value or, if lower, the 

present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding lease commitment is shown as a 

liability. Lease payments are analysed between capital and interest. The interest element is charged to 

the profit or loss over the period of the lease and is calculated so that it represents a constant proportion 

of the lease liability. The capital element reduces the balance owed to the lessor.

The total rentals payable under the operating leases are recognised in the profit or loss on a straight-

line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integrated part of the total 

rental expense, over the term of the lease.
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(e) Financial instruments

(i) Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets at initial recognition, depending on the purpose for which 

the asset was acquired. All of the Group’s financial assets are classified as loans and receivables, 

which are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to 

the acquisition of the financial assets. Regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are 

recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. A regular way purchase or sale is a purchase 

or sale of a financial asset under a contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within the time 

frame established generally by regulation or convention in the marketplace concerned.

Loans and receivables

These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 

quoted in an active market. They arise principally through the provision of goods and services to 

customers (trade receivables), and also incorporate other types of contractual monetary asset. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, they are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method, less any identified impairment losses.

(ii) Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group assesses, at the end of each reporting period, whether there is any objective evidence 

that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of 

financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment 

as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (as incurred 

“loss event”) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial 

asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may 

include:

• significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

• a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

• granting concession to a debtor because of debtor’s financial difficulty; or

• it becoming probable that the debtor or the group of debtors will enter bankruptcy or other 

financial reorganisation.



Pak Wing Group (Holdings) Limited  Annual Report 2017 67

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2017

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii) Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

For Loans and receivables

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is 

impaired, and is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 

value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. The 

carrying amount of financial asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When any 

part of financial asset is determined as uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account 

for the relevant financial asset.

(iii) Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on the purpose for which the liabilities were 

incurred. All of the Group’s financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities at amortised 

cost, which are initially measured at fair value, net of directly attributable costs incurred. They are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The related interest 

expense is recognised in profit or loss. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the 

liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amortisation process.

(iv) Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or 

financial liability and of allocating interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The 

effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments 

through the expected life of the financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

(v) Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct 

issue costs.

(vi) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the future cash flows 

in relation to the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has been transferred and the 

transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in accordance with HKAS 39.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is 

discharged, cancelled or expires.
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(e) Financial instruments (Continued)

(vi) Derecognition (Continued)

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments to a creditor to settle a financial liability in whole 

or in part as a result of renegotiating the terms of that liability, the equity instruments issued are 

the consideration paid and are recognised initially and measured at their fair value on the date the 

financial liability or part thereof is extinguished. If the fair value of the equity instruments issued 

cannot be reliably measured, the equity instruments are measured to reflect the fair value of the 

financial liability extinguished. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability or 

part thereof extinguished and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss for the year.

(vii) Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated 

statement of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the 

recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and 

settle the liabilities simultaneously.

(f) Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) that are 

expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual reporting period in 

which the employees render the related service. Short term employee benefits are recognised in 

the year when the employees render the related service.

(ii) Defined contribution retirement plan

Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans are recognised as an expense in profit or 

loss when the services are rendered by the employees.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw the 

offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the payment 

of termination benefits.
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(g) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, including cash and bank balances, comprise cash on hand and demand 

deposits and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount 

of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. For the purpose of the combined 

statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include bank overdrafts which are repayable on 

demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

(h) Construction contracts

Contract revenue comprises the agreed contract amount and appropriate amounts for variation orders, 

claims and incentive payments. Contract costs comprise direct materials, costs of subcontracting, direct 

labour and an appropriate portion of variable and fixed construction overheads.

When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, revenue and contract costs 

associated with the construction contract are recognised as revenue and expenses respectively by 

reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of each of the reporting periods.

When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised 

only to the extent of contract costs incurred that will probably be recoverable, and contract costs are 

recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is 

recognised as an expense immediately.

Where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised 

losses, the surplus is treated as an amount due to contract customers.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed progress 

billings, the surplus is treated as an amount due from contract customers.

(i) Revenue recognition

Revenue from contract work is recognised based on the stage of completion of the contracts, provided 

that the stage of contract completion and the gross billing value of contracting work can be measured 

reliably. The stage of completion of a contract is established by reference to surveys of work performed.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis on the principal outstanding at the applicable interest rate.

Rental income from leasing a machinery is recognised on a straight-line basis over the period covered by 

the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more representative of the time pattern of benefits to 

be derived from the use of the leased asset.
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(j) Income taxes

Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary activities adjusted for items that are non-

assessable or disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated using tax rates that have been 

enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 

and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. 

Except for recognised assets and liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred tax 

liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent 

that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can 

be utilised. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates expected to apply in the period when the liability is 

settled or the asset is realised based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 

end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in 

subsidiaries, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and 

it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except when they relate to items directly recognised in other 

comprehensive income in which case the taxes are also directly recognised in other comprehensive 

income.

(k) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a legal or 

constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, which will probably result in an outflow of 

economic benefits that can be reasonably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be 

estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of 

economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, the existence of which will only be confirmed by the 

occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities 

unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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(l) Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of assets (other than 

inventories and financial assets) to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have 

suffered an impairment loss or an impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have 

decreased.

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair value less costs of disposal and value in use) of an 

asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its 

recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the 

revised estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not 

exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised 

for the asset in prior periods. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

(m) Related parties

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of key management personnel of the Group or the Company’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions apply:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent, 

subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture 

of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 

entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the employees of the Group or 

an entity related to the Group.



72 Pak Wing Group (Holdings) Limited  Annual Report 2017

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2017

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions apply: (Continued)

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management 

personnel services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, 

or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(ii) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(iii) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.

(n) Capitalisation of borrowing costs

Borrowing costs attributable directly to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets 

which require a substantial period of time to be ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised 

as part of the cost of those assets. Income earned on temporary investments of specific borrowings 

pending their expenditure on those assets is deducted from borrowing costs capitalised. All other 

borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

(o) Segment information

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment information based on the regular 

internal financial information reported to the executive directors for their decisions about resources 

allocation to the Group’s business components and for their review the performance of those 

components. The business components in the internal financial information reported to the executive 

directors are determined following the Group’s major operations.

The measurement policies the Group uses for reporting segment results under HKFRS 8 “Operating 

Segment” are the same as those used in its financial statements prepared under HKFRS 8.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 

UNCERTAINTY

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group requires management to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and 

liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of each reporting period. However, uncertainty 

about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the 

carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods.

Estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of 

each reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below. The Group based its assumptions 

and estimates on parameters available when the consolidated financial statements were prepared. However, 

existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments may change due to market changes or 

circumstances arising beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when 

they occur.

(i) Construction contract revenue recognition

Recognised amounts of construction contract revenue and related receivables reflect management’s 

best estimate of each contract’s outcome and stage of completion, which are determined on the basis 

of a number of estimates. This includes the assessment of the profitability of on-going construction 

contracts. For more complex contracts in particular, costs to complete and contract profitability are 

subject to significant estimation uncertainty. The actual outcomes in terms of total cost or revenue may 

be higher or lower than estimated at the end of each of the reporting periods, which would affect the 

revenue and profit recognised in future years as an adjustment to the amounts recorded to date.

(ii) Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is an indication that an asset 

may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the Group makes an estimate of the recoverable amount 

of the asset. This requires an estimation of fair value less cost of disposal and the value-in-use of the 

cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to which the asset is allocated. Fair value less costs of disposal is based 

on management estimates having regard to estimated fair value provided by an independent external 

valuer, which is a level 3 fair value measurement. Estimating the value-in-use requires the Group to make 

an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the CGU and also to choose a suitable discount 

rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. A change in the estimated future cash 

flows and/or the discount rate applied will result in an adjustment to the estimated impairment provision 

previously made.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimates and assumptions (Continued)

(iii) Impairment of trade and other receivables

Provision policy for doubtful debts of the Group is based on the ongoing evaluation of the collectability 

and ageing analysis of the outstanding receivables and on the management’s judgement. A 

considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables, 

including creditworthiness and the past collection history of each customer and the related parties. If the 

financial conditions of the customers and other debtors of the Group were to deteriorate, resulting in an 

impairment of their ability to make payments, additional impairment may be required.

(iv) Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions requires the Group to make judgement on the future tax treatment 

of certain transactions. The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of transactions in accordance 

with prevailing tax regulations and makes tax provisions accordingly. In addition, deferred tax assets 

are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which 

the deductible temporary differences can be utilised. This requires significant judgement on the tax 

treatments of certain transactions and also assessment on the probability that adequate future taxable 

profits will be available for the deferred tax assets to be recovered.

(v) Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment

In determining the useful lives of property, plant and equipment, the Group has to consider various 

factors, such as expected usage of the asset, expected physical wear and tear, the care and 

maintenance of the asset, and legal or similar limits on the use of the asset. The estimation of the useful 

life of the asset is made based on the experience of the Group with similar assets that are used in a 

similar way. Depreciation charge is revised if the estimated useful lives of items of property, plant and 

equipment are different from the previous estimation. Estimated useful lives are reviewed, at the end of 

each of the reporting periods, based on changes in circumstances.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments

The Group was principally engaged in the provision of foundation works. Information reported to the Group’s 

chief operating decision maker, for the purpose of resources allocation and performance assessment, 

focuses on the operating results of the Group as a whole, as the Group’s resources are integrated and no 

discrete operating segment financial information is available. Accordingly, no operating segment information is 

presented.

Geographical information

All of the Group’s revenue was derived from Hong Kong, based on the location of the customers, and all of its 

non-current assets were located in Hong Kong, based on the location of assets. Therefore, no geographical 

information is presented.

Information about major customers

Revenue attributed from customers that accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue during the 

year is as follows:

 2017 2016

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Customer A N/A 18,585

Customer B 16,383 42,917

Customer C 28,427 19,629

Customer D 51,775 N/A

Customer E 16,046 N/A

N/A: Revenue from the customer during the year did not exceed 10% of the Group’s revenue.
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7. REVENUE

The Group’s revenue represents amount received and receivable from contract work performed and 

recognised in accordance with accounting policy set out in Note 4(i) above during the year.

8. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

Loss before income tax is arrived after charging/(crediting):

 2017 2016

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Auditor’s remuneration 500 570

Listing expense – 6,380

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 13,278 11,052

Operating lease rentals in respect of:

 – Land and buildings 2,099 1,592

 – Plant and equipment 10,912 10,596

(Reversal of)/recognition of impairment loss on retention receivables (1,076) 1,076

(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (996) 241

Employee benefit expenses (Note 9) 33,678 34,698

9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

 2017 2016

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Wages, salaries and other benefits 32,907 33,742

Post-employment benefits-defined contribution

 retirement plan contributions 771 956

 33,678 34,698

10. OTHER INCOME

 2017 2016

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Reversal of impairment loss on retention receivables 1,076 –

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 996 –

Rental income from leasing machinery 1,216 –

Others 596 280

 3,884 280
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11. FINANCE COSTS

 2017 2016

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on finance leases 643 669

Interest on bank borrowings 45 143

Interest on loans from directors 356 –

 1,044 812

12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUAL

(i) Directors’ remuneration

Directors’ remuneration for the year is as follows:

  Salaries Pension

  and scheme

 Fees benefits contributions Total

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 March 2017

Executive directors:

 Mr. Wong Chin To – 3,331 18 3,349

 Mr. Tse Chun Kit (Note (a)) – 3,483 18 3,501

 Ms. Chan Siu Ying (Note (b)) – 218 7 225

 Mr. Lui Man Wah (Note (c)) – 210 9 219

 Mr. Ee Kok Wai, Thomas

  (Note (d)) – 210 9 219

 – 7,452 61 7,513

Independent

 non-executive directors:

 Mr. Wong Chi Shing – 120 6 126

 Mr. Kuo Tung Ming (Note (e)) – 96 4 100

 Ms. Si Tou Man Wai (Note (f)) – 58 3 61

 Mr. Yan Chun Fu (Note (g)) – 61 3 64

 Mr. Lau Yik Lok (Note (h)) – 24 1 25

 – 359 17 376

Total – 7,811 78 7,889



78 Pak Wing Group (Holdings) Limited  Annual Report 2017

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2017

12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUAL (Continued)

(i) Directors’ remuneration (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Mr. Tse Chun Kit resigned as executive director after the end of the reporting period on 19 May 2017.

(b) Ms. Chan Siu Ying resigned as executive director on 1 September 2016.

(c) Mr. Lui Man Wah was appointed as executive director on 1 September 2016.

(d) Mr. Ee Kok Wai, Thomas was appointed as executive director on 1 September 2016 and resigned from his position 

on 19 May 2017.

(e) Mr. Kuo Tung Ming resigned as independent non-executive director on 20 January 2017.

(f) Ms. Si Tou Man Wai resigned as independent non-executive director on 26 September 2016.

(g) Mr. Yan Chun Fu was appointed as independent non-executive director on 26 September 2016 and resigned from 

his position on 19 May 2017.

(h) Mr. Lau Yik Lok was appointed as independent non-executive director on 20 January 2017.

  Salaries Pension

  and scheme

 Fees benefits contributions Total

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 March 2016

Executive directors:

 Mr. Wong Chin To – 3,473 18 3,491

 Mr. Tse Wai Chun – 3,355 18 3,373

 Ms. Chan Siu Ying – 574 12 586

 – 7,402 48 7,450

Independent

 non-executive directors:

 Mr. Wong Chi Shing – 91 4 95

 Mr. Kuo Tung Ming – 91 4 95

 Ms. Si Tou Man Wai – 91 4 95

 – 273 12 285

Total – 7,675 60 7,735

During the current and prior years, none of the directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration and 

there were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the directors as an inducement to join, or upon 

joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.
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12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUAL (Continued)

(ii) Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group included 2 executive 

directors of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016: 2), whose emoluments are reflected 

in the analysis as shown above. The remuneration of the remaining highest paid individuals is as follows:

 2017 2016

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 5,158 2,993

Pension scheme contributions – defined contribution plans 35 54

 5,193 3,047

Their remuneration fell within the following bands:

 2017 2016

 No. of  No. of

 employees  employees

Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 2

HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 2,000,000 – 1

HK$3,000,001 to HK$ 4,000,000 1 –

During the current and prior years, none of the five highest paid individuals waived or agreed to waive any 

remuneration and there were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the five highest paid individuals 

as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

(iii) Senior management’s emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to members of senior management, other than the five highest paid 

employees were within the following bands:

 Number of employees

 2017 2016

Nil to HK$1,000,000 1 3

HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 – 2

 1 5
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13. INCOME TAX

The amount of income tax in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income represents:

 2017 2016

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Current tax

Hong Kong profits tax

– charge for the year – –

– over provision in respect of prior years – (35)

Deferred tax (Note 24) 240 (2,554)

Income tax 240 (2,589)

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the current and prior years as the group companies 

which are subject to Hong Kong profits tax at the applicable tax rate of 16.5% either incurred tax losses for 

the year or have tax losses brought forward to set off with the assessable profit for the year.

The income tax for the year can be reconciled to the loss before income tax expense per the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income as follows:

 2017 2016

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before income tax (28,688) (24,820)

Tax calculated at the applicable statutory tax rate of 16.5% (4,733) (4,095)

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 895 1,541

Tax effect on tax losses not recognised 4,235 –

Tax effect of non-taxable income (157) –

Over provision of income tax in respect of prior years – (35)

Income tax at the effective tax rate 240 (2,589)
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14. DIVIDEND

 2017 2016

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Interim dividend – 8,000

The interim dividend for the prior year represented those declared and paid by Pak Wing Group Limited to its 

then shareholders prior to the completion of the group reorganisation.

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during the year ended 31 March 2017.

15. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company is based 

on the following data:

 2017 2016

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss

Loss for the purpose of basic loss per share (28,928) (22,231)

 Number Number

 of shares of shares

 ’000 ’000

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 

 for the purpose of basic loss per share 800,000 758,033

There were no potential ordinary shares in issue for the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016. Accordingly, 

the diluted loss per share presented is the same as basic loss per share.
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

   Furniture

 Leasehold   and Motor

 improvements Machineries equipment vehicles Total

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost

At 1 April 2015 924 32,205 378 3,874 37,381

Additions – 18,416 937 3,786 23,139

Disposals – – – (1,095) (1,095)

At 31 March 2016 and

 1 April 2016 924 50,621 1,315 6,565 59,425

Additions 514 7,950 141 3,361 11,966

Disposals – (3,797) – (2,550) (6,347)

At 31 March 2017 1,438 54,774 1,456 7,376 65,044

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 April 2015 230 9,824 100 1,624 11,778

Provided for the year 276 8,896 215 1,665 11,052

Eliminated on disposals – – – (320) (320)

At 31 March 2016 and

 1 April 2016 506 18,720 315 2,969 22,510

Provided for the year 149 10,611 273 2,245 13,278

Eliminated on disposals – (2,309) – (2,094) (4,403)

At 31 March 2017 655 27,022 588 3,120 31,385

Net book value

At 31 March 2017 783 27,752 868 4,256 33,659

At 31 March 2016 418 31,901 1,000 3,596 36,915

The net carrying amount of property, plant and equipment includes the following assets held under finance 

leases (Note 23).

 2017 2016

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Machineries 16,416 15,792

Motor vehicles 4,133 3,094

 20,549 18,886
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17. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) CUSTOMERS FOR CONTRACT WORK

 2017 2016

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracts in progress:

Contract costs incurred 49,603 53,209

Recognised profits less recognised losses 4,528 6,395

 54,131 59,604

Less: progress billings (53,171) (61,951)

 960 (2,347)

Represented by:

Amounts due from customers for contract work 960 3

Amounts due to customers for contract work – (2,350)

 960 (2,347)

As at 31 March 2017, retentions held by customers for contract work included in trade and other receivables 

(Note 18) amounted to approximately HK$8,535,000 (2016: HK$4,365,000).
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

 2017 2016

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables (Note (a)) 16,324 19,889

Retention receivables (Note (b)) 8,535 4,365

Other receivables (Note (c)) 3,593 613

Prepayments and deposits (Note (c)) 1,443 1,418

 29,895 26,285

(a) Trade receivables were mainly derived from provision of foundation works and non-interest bearing. The Group does not 

hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances.

The Group grants an average credit period of 30 to 60 days to its trade customers of contract works. Application for 

progress payments of contract works is made on a regular basis.

The following is an analysis of trade receivables by age, presented based on the invoice dates:

 2017 2016

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Less than 1 month 7,565 7,360

1 to 3 months 4,997 9,058

More than 3 months but less than one year 3,762 3,471

 16,324 19,889

The ageing of trade receivables that are not individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is as follows:

 2017 2016

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Neither past due nor impaired 7,565 7,145

Less than 1 month past due 4,791 4,409

1 to 3 months past due 615 7,245

More than 3 months past due but less than 12 months past due 3,353 1,090

 16,324 19,889

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to customers for whom there is no recent history of default.

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to customers that have a good track record with the Group. 

Based on past experience, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary in 

respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances are still considered 

fully recoverable.
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(a) (Continued)

Movement in provision for impairment of trade receivables is as follows:

 HK$’000

As at 1 April 2015, 31 March 2016 and 1 April 2016 171

Impairment loss recognised –

As at 31 March 2017 171

(b)

 2017 2016

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Retention receivables 8,535 5,441

Less: provision for impairment on retention receivables – (1,076)

 8,535 4,365

Retention monies withheld by customers of contract works are released after the completion of maintenance period of the 

relevant contracts or in accordance with the terms specified in the relevant contracts. Retention receivables were not yet 

past due as at 31 March 2017 and 2016.

The below table reconciled the impairment loss of retention receivables on the current and prior years:

 HK$’000

As at 1 April 2015 –

Impairment loss recognised 1,076

As at 31 March 2016 and 1 April 2016 1,076

Reversal of impairment loss rescognised (1,076)

As at 31 March 2017 –

(c) Other receivables, prepayments and deposits as at 31 March 2017 and 2016 were neither past due nor impaired. Financial 

assets included in these balances are non-interest bearing and relate to receivables for which there was no recent history of 

default.
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19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents of the Group represent cash at banks and in hand.

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

 2017 2016

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables (Note (a)) 31,455 12,471

Other payables and accruals (Note (b)) 3,284 3,260

 34,739 15,731

Notes:

(a) An ageing analysis of trade payables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice dates, is as follows:

 2017 2016

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Current or less than 1 month 7,263 6,861

1 to 3 months 14,563 4,855

More than 3 months but less than one year 9,421 750

More than one year 208 5

 31,455 12,471

The Group’s trade payables are non-interest bearing and generally have payment terms of less than 60 days.

(b) Other payables are non-interest bearing and have average payment terms of one to three months.
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21. AMOUNTS DUE TO AND LOANS FROM DIRECTORS

An analysis of the amounts due to and loans from Directors are as follows:

 2017 2016

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts due to directors

Mr. Wong Chin To (Note (a)) 666 –

Mr. Tse Chun Kit (Note (a)) 590 –

 1,256 –

Loans from directors

Mr. Wong Chin To (Note (b)) 4,574 –

Mr. Tse Chun Kit (Note (b)) 4,574 –

 9,148 –

Notes:

(a) The amounts due to directors are secured, interest free and repayable on demand.

(b) Mr. Wong Chin To and Mr. Tse Chun Kit, the Then Controlling Shareholders and the directors of the Company as at 31 

March 2017, granted a loan of HK$5,000,000 and HK$5,000,000, respectively, to the Group. The amounts are unsecured, 

carried a fixed interest rate of 3% per annum and are repayable in 2021. On initial recognition, the loans were stated at 

fair value of approximately HK$9,018,000, determined based on the then market interest rate of 5% as estimated by the 

Company’s directors. The difference between the loan proceeds received and such fair value of approximately HK$982,000 

was accounted for as capital contribution from the Then Controlling Shareholders.

22. BANK BORROWINGS, SECURED

 2017 2016

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank borrowings, secured – 2,640

The bank borrowings bear interest at the Hong Kong Prime Rate minus 2% per annum (2016: Hong Kong 

Prime Rate minus 1.75% to 3.1% per annum).
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23. LEASES

(a) Finance leases

The Group leases a number of its machineries and motor vehicles for business use. Such assets are 

generally classified as finance leases as the rental period amounts to the estimated useful economic life 

of the assets concerned and often the Group has the right to purchase the assets outright at the end of 

the minimum lease term by paying a nominal amount.

Future lease payments are due as follows:

 Minimum

 lease  Present

 payments Interest value

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 31 March 2017

Not later than one year 6,870 569 6,301

Later than one year and not later

 than two years 5,906 250 5,656

Later than two years and not

 later than five years 2,271 44 2,227

 15,047 863 14,184

As at 31 March 2016

Not later than one year 6,283 553 5,730

Later than one year and not later

 than two years 4,457 300 4,157

Later than two years and not later

 than five years 4,231 118 4,113

 14,971 971 14,000
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23. LEASES (Continued)

(b) Operating leases – lessee

The Group leased its office premises and machineries under operating lease arrangement which were 

negotiated for terms ranging from one to three years. None of these leases include any contingent 

rentals.

The total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are due as follows:

 2017 2016

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Not later than one year 2,952 4,749

Later than one year and not later than five years 4,484 309

 7,436 5,058

24. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

Details of the deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised and movements during the current and prior years:

  Accelerated

  depreciation

 Tax losses allowances Total

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2015 – (2,504) (2,504)

Credited/(charged) to profit or loss for the year (Note 13) 3,428 (874) 2,554

At 31 March 2016 and 1 April 2016 3,428 (3,378) 50

(Charged)/credited to profit or loss for the year (Note 13) (477) 237 (240)

At 31 March 2017 2,951 (3,141) (190)
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24. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) (Continued)

For the purpose of presentation in statement of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities 

have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

 2017 2016

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Deferred tax assets – 114

Deferred tax liabilities (190) (64)

Net (190) 50

No deferred tax assets has been recognised in respect of certain unused tax losses due to the unpredictability 

of future profit streams in the relevant entries. At the end of the reporting period, the Group has not recognised 

certain unused tax losses amounting to approximately HK$25,666,000. The tax losses arising from the 

operation do not expire under current tax legislation in the relevant tax jurisdiction.

25. SHARE CAPITAL

 The Company

 Number Amount

  HK$’000

Authorised:

 Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

 At date of incorporation, 31 March 2015 and 1 April 2015 38,000,000 380

 Increase in authorised share capital on 6 July 2015 (Note (a)) 962,000,000 9,620

 At 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2017 1,000,000,000 10,000

Issued and fully paid:

 Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

 At the date of incorporation 1 –

 Issue of a share on 13 January 2015 1 –

 Issue of shares upon Group Reorganisation (Note (c)) 37,999,998 380

 Capitalisation issue of shares (Note (d)) 642,000,000 6,420

 Issue of shares under placing (Note (e)) 120,000,000 1,200

 At 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2017 800,000,000 8,000

(a) The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 15 July 2014 with an authorised share capital of HK$380,000 

divided into 38,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each. On the same date, one ordinary share of HK$0.01 was issued to 

Reid Service Limited at nil paid, and was transferred to Get Real Holdings Limited (“Get Real”) for nil consideration. On 13 

January 2015, Dor Holdings Limited (“Dor Holdings”) subscribed one ordinary share of HK$0.01 at nil paid. Pursuant to the 

written resolutions passed on 6 July 2015, the authorised share capital of the Company was increased from HK$380,000 

to HK$10,000,000 by the creation of an additional 962,000,000 ordinary shares.
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25. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(b) The share capital of the Group as at 1 April 2015 represented the aggregate amount of the share capital of the subsidiaries 

and was transferred to merger reserve upon the Group Reorganisation.

(c) On 6 July 2015, Get Real and Dor Holdings, each as a vendor, and the Company, as purchaser, entered in a share swap 

deed, pursuant to which the Company acquired a 50% of the entire equity interest of Pak Wing Group Limited and Unicorn 

World Holdings Limited from each of the vendors and as consideration for which (i) the 1 and 1 nil-paid shares in the 

Company held by Get Real and Dor Holdings respectively were credited as fully paid, and (ii) 18,999,999 and 18,999,999 

shares of the Company were issued and allotted to each of Get Real and Dor Holdings respectively, all credited as fully paid.

(d) Pursuant to written resolutions passed on 6 July 2015, the Directors authorised to capitalise a sum of approximately 

HK$6,420,000 from the amount standing to the credit of the share premium account of the Company and applied such 

amount to pay up in full at par of 642,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company (“Capitalisation Issue”).

(e) Under a placing took place during the year ended 31 March 2016, 120,000,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were 

issued at a price of HK$0.35 per share for a total cash consideration (before share issuance expenses) of approximately 

HK$42,000,000.

26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

 Note 2017 2016

  HK$’000 HK$’000

Non current assets

Investments in subsidiaries  – 51,727

  – 51,727

Current assets

Prepayment and deposit  172 218

Amount due from a subsidiary  20,538 15,170

Cash and cash equivalents  32 7,968

  20,742 23,356

Current liabilities

Accruals and other payables  690 390

  690 390

NET ASSETS  20,052 74,693

EQUITY

Share capital  8,000 8,000

Reserves 27 12,052 66,693

TOTAL EQUITY  20,052 74,693

On behalf of the Board of Directors

 Zhang Weijie Wong Chin To

 Director Director
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27. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior years are presented 

in the consolidated statement of changes in equity of the financial statements. Movements in the Company’s 

reserves during the current and prior years are as follows:

 Share  Accumulated

 premium (a) losses (c) Total

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2015 – (6,760) (6,760)

Issue of shares upon Group

 Reorganisation (Note 25(c)) 51,347 – 51,347

Capitalisation issue of shares (Note 25(d)) (6,420) – (6,420)

Issue of shares under placing (Note 25(e)) 40,800 – 40,800

Share issuance expenses (3,202) – (3,202)

Loss for the year – (9,072) (9,072)

At 31 March 2016 and 1 April 2016 82,525 (15,832) 66,693

Loss for the year – (54,641) (54,641)

At 31 March 2017 82,525 (70,473) 12,052

The nature and purpose of reserves within equity are as follows:

(a) Share premium

Under the Companies Law (as revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share premium account of the 

Company is distributable to its shareholders, provided that immediately following the date on which the 

dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company shall be able to pay its debts as the fall due in the ordinary 

course of business.

(b) Merger reserve

The merger reserve of the Group represents the difference between the total equity of those subsidiaries 

and the aggregated share capital of the relevant subsidiaries pursuant to the group reorganisation where 

the transfer of the relevant subsidiaries to the Company are satisfied by issue of new shares from the 

Company.

(c) Retained earnings/(accumulated losses)

The amount represents cumulative net gains and losses recognised in profit or loss.

(d) Capital reserve

The amount represents in substance capital contribution from the Then Controlling Shareholders, being 

the difference between the fair value of the loans from them on initial recognition and the loan proceeds 

received by the Group. For details of the loans, please refer to Note 21.
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28. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2017 are set out as follows:

Name of entity

Place and date of 

incorporation and 

form of business 

structure

Percentage of

equity attributable

to the Company

Issued and fully

paid ordinary

share capital or

registered capital

Principal activities

and principal place 

 of business

Direct Indirect

      

Pak Wing Group Limited 

(“Pak Wing Group”)

British Virgin Islands (the 

“BVI”), 14 May 2014, 

limited liability company

100% – 100 ordinary shares of 

United States dollar 

(“US$”)1 each

Investment holding, 

Hong Kong

Unicorn World Holdings 

Limited (“Unicorn World”)

BVI, 29 October 2014, 

limited liability company

100% – 100 ordinary shares of 

US$1 each

Investment holding, 

Hong Kong

Pak Wing Construction 

Company Limited (“Pak 

Wing Construction”)

Hong Kong, 18 October 

2011, limited liability 

company

– 100% Ordinary shares of 

HK$10,000 

Foundation 

subcontractor, 

Hong Kong

Pak Wing Machinery 

Company Limited (“Pak 

Wing Machinery”)

Hong Kong, 29 May 2013, 

limited liability company

– 100% Ordinary shares of 

HK$10,000 

Rental of machinery, 

Hong Kong

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the 

Group entered into the following related party transactions, which also constitute connected transactions as 

defined in Chapter 20 of the Listing Rules, during the year:

  2017 2016

Name of related parties Nature of transactions HK$’000 HK$’000

Oriental Boring &  Contract related

 Eng. Ltd (a)  services charge (c) 5 –

Air Power Limited (b) Machinery rental expense (c) 5 –

Notes:

(a) Oriental Boring & Eng. Ltd is beneficially owned by the parents of Mr. Tse Chun Kit, a director of the Company.

(b) Mr. Tse Chun Kit, a director of the Company, has beneficial interest of 50% in Air Power Limited.

(c) The transactions were conducted on terms and conditions mutually agreed between the relevant parties. The Directors of 

the Company are of the opinion that these related party transactions were conducted in the ordinary course of business of 

the Group.

Key management personnel compensation

The key management personnel of the Group are the Directors of the Company. Details of the remuneration 

paid to them during the current and prior years are set out in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s principal financial assets are trade and other receivables and cash and bank balances that derive 

directly from its operations. Principal financial liabilities of the Group include trade and other payables, amount 

due to and loans from directors and obligations under finance leases. The main purpose of these financial 

liabilities is to finance the Group’s operations.

The Group has not issued and does not hold any financial instruments for trading purposes at the end of the 

reporting period. The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and 

interest rate risk.

The Group’s financial risk management policy seeks to ensure that adequate resources are available to 

manage the above risks and to create value for its shareholders.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or 

customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating 

activities (primarily for trade receivables) and from amounts due from a director and a related party and 

deposits with banks.

The credit risk of Group’s trade and retention receivables is concentrated, since 85% and 87% of which 

was derived from five largest customers as at 31 March 2017 and 2016, respectively.

The Group had a concentration of credit risk as certain of the Group’s trade and retention receivables 

were due from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers as detailed below.

 2017 2016

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Largest customer 12,650 6,340

Five largest customers 21,080 21,074

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables 

are disclosed in Note 18.

The Group’s customers are reputable corporations and thus credit risk is considered to be low. Credit 

risk on other receivables is minimal as the Group performs ongoing credit evaluation on the financial 

condition of its debtors and tightly monitors the ageing of the receivable balances. Follow up action is 

taken in case of overdue balances. In addition, management reviews the recoverable amount of the 

receivables individually and collectively at each reporting date to ensure that adequate impairment losses 

are made for irrecoverable amounts. The credit policies have been followed by the Group during the 

reporting period and are considered to have been effective in limiting the Group’s exposure to credit 

risk to a desirable level. None of the Group’s financial assets are secured by collateral or other credit 

enhancements.

The Group’s major bank balances are deposited with banks with good reputation and with high credit-

ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies and hence management does not expect any 

losses from non-performance by these banks.
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements in 

order to maintain sufficient reserves of cash in the short and long term. The liquidity policies have been 

followed by the Group during the reporting period and are considered to have been effective in managing 

liquidity risk.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial 

liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities 

based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both interest 

and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is 

derived from interest rates at the end of the reporting period.

  Total  Less than 

  contractual  one year or 

 Carrying undiscounted  repayable  More than 

 amount cash flow on demand one year

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 31 March 2017

Trade and other payables 34,739 34,739 34,739 –

Obligations under finance leases 14,184 15,046 6,870 8,176

Amounts due to directors 1,256 1,256 1,256 –

Loans from directors 9,148 11,500 356 11,144

 59,327 62,541 43,221 19,320

  Total  Less than

  contractual  one year or

 Carrying undiscounted  repayable  More than

 amount cash flow on demand one year

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 31 March 2016

Trade and other payables 15,731 15,731 15,731 –

Obligations under finance leases 14,000 14,971 6,284 8,687

Bank borrowings, secured 2,640 2,685 2,685 –

 32,371 33,387 24,700 8,687
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank balances, 

borrowings and bank overdrafts. Interest charged on the Group’s borrowings are at variable rates. 

The Group currently does not have a policy on cash flow hedges of interest rate risk. However, the 

management monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate risk 

should the need arise.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to the short-term bank deposits. 

However, management considers the fair value interest rate risk on these deposits is insignificant as they 

are relatively short-term. The management monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging 

significant interest rate exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for variable-

rate bank balances and borrowings. The analysis is prepared assuming that the amount of assets 

and liabilities outstanding at the end of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. 50 

basis points and 100 basis points increase or decrease represent management’s assessment of the 

reasonably possible change in interest rates of bank balances and borrowings, respectively.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent interest rate risk as 

the exposures at the end of the reporting period do not reflect the exposures during the year.

If interest rates on bank balances had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other variables were 

held constant, the potential effect on the Group’s post-tax profit for the years ended 31 March 2017 and 

2016 is as follows:

 2017 2016

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Increase/(decrease) in profit for the year

– as a result of increase in interest rate 96 100

– as a result of decrease in interest rate (96) (100)
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

If interest rates on bank borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/lower and all other variables were 

held constant, the potential effect on the Group’s post-tax profit for the years ended 31 March 2017 and 

2016 is as follows:

 2017 2016

 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Decrease)/increase in profit for the year

– as a result of increase in interest rate – 26

– as a result of decrease in interest rate – (26)

31. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 

concern in order to provide returns for shareholder and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the 

cost of capital.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic 

conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to 

shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. No changes in 

the objectives, policies or processes were made during the year.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is 

calculated as the total of obligation under finance leases, amounts due to directors, loans from directors and 

bank borrowings and less cash and cash equivalents. Capital represents equity of the Group.

 2017 2016

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total debt 24,588 16,640

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (19,177) (19,961)

Net debt 5,411 (3,321)

Equity attributable to the owners of the Company 24,174 52,120

Gearing ratio 22.4% N/A
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32. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

 2017 2016

 Carrying Carrying

  amount and amount and

  fair value  fair value

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets – loans and receivables

Trade and other receivables 30,348 25,503

Cash and cash equivalents 19,177 19,961

 49,525 45,464

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Trade and other payables 34,739 15,731

Amounts due to directors 1,256 –

Obligations under finance leases 14,184 14,000

Bank borrowing, secured – 2,640

Loans from directors 9,148 –

 59,327 32,371

33. COMMITMENTS

The Group’s capital commitments at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

 2017 2016

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracted but not provided for:

 Property, plant and equipment – 1,000
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Shareholders of the Company have approved and adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 6 July 

2015.

A summary of the Scheme is set out as below:

The Scheme became effective for a period of 10 years commencing on 6 July 2015. Under the Scheme, 

the directors shall, in its absolute discretion select, make an offer to any eligible participants to subscribe for 

shares of the Company at a subscription price being not less than the highest of (i) the closing price of shares 

of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the offer date; or (ii) the average 

closing prices of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the 

five business days immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii) the nominal value of the share on the offer 

date. The offer of a grant of options may be accepted within seven days from the date of the offer grant.

The maximum number of shares to be issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options granted at any time 

under the Scheme together with options which may be granted under any other share option schemes for the 

time being of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company at 

the date of the approval of the Scheme.

No options have been granted since the adoption of the share option scheme.

35. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 June 2017.
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For the fi ve years ended 31 March 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

RESULTS

 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total revenue 137,310 107,306 130,791 101,747 55,256

(Loss)/profit before income tax (28,688) (24,820) 15,672 31,948 17,972

Income tax (240) 2,589 (3,798) (5,816) (2,960)

(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive

 income for the year (28,928) (22,231) 11,874 26,132 15,012

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Total assets 83,691 86,905 74,716 60,644 31,748

Total liabilities (59,517) (34,785) (31,163) (27,967) (15,213)

Net assets 24,174 52,120 43,553 32,677 16,535
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